CHAPTER THREE

Can insects feel pain? A review of the neural and behavioural evidence

Matilda Gibbons^a, Andrew Crump^b, Meghan Barrett^c, Sajedeh Sarlak^d, Jonathan Birch^b, and Lars Chittka^{a,*}

^aSchool of Biological and Behavioural Sciences, Queen Mary University of London, London, United Kingdom ^bCentre for Philosophy of Natural and Social Science, London School of Economics and Political Science, London, United Kingdom

^cDepartment of Biology, California State University Dominguez Hills, Carson, CA, United States

^dFaculty of Agricultural Science and Engineering, University of Tehran, Tehran, Iran

*Corresponding author: e-mail address: l.chittka@qmul.ac.uk

Contents

1.	Introduction	156				
2.	How we evaluate evidence for pain	158				
3.	Pain in insects: A review of the evidence	164				
	3.1 Criterion 1: Nociception	164				
	3.2 Criterion 2: Sensory integration	169				
	3.3 Criterion 3: Integrated nociception	176				
	3.4 Criterion 4: Analgesia	181				
	3.5 Criterion 5: Motivational trade-offs	190				
	3.6 Criterion 6: Flexible self-protection	193				
	3.7 Criterion 7: Associative learning	196				
	3.8 Criterion 8: Analgesia preference	200				
4.	Summary of evidence for insect pain	203				
5.	Ethical considerations for the use or management of insects	206				
6.	Conclusion 2					
Ac	knowledgements	210				
Со	onflict of interest 21					
Fui	nding statement	210				
Ref	ferences 210					

Abstract

The entomology literature has historically suggested insects cannot feel pain, leading to their exclusion from ethical debates and animal welfare legislation. However, there may be more neural and cognitive/behavioural evidence for pain in insects than previously considered. We use Birch et al. 's (2021) eight criteria for sentience to critically evaluate the evidence for pain in insects. We assess six orders (Blattodea, Coleoptera, Diptera,

Hymenoptera, Lepidoptera, and Orthoptera) in at least two life stages (adult and first instar juveniles, as well as other instars where relevant data are found). Other insect orders have not received enough research effort to be evaluated. According to the Birch et al. framework, adult Diptera (flies and mosquitoes) and Blattodea (cockroaches and termites) satisfy six criteria, constituting strong evidence for pain. Adults of the remaining orders (except Coleoptera, beetles) and some juveniles (Blattodea and Diptera, as well as last instar Lepidoptera [butterflies and moths]) satisfy 3–4 criteria, or "substantial evidence for pain". We found no good evidence that any insects failed a criterion. However, there were significant evidence gaps, particularly for juveniles, highlighting the importance of more research on insect pain. We conclude by considering the ethical implications of our findings where insects are managed in wild, farmed, and research contexts.

1. Introduction

Sentience is the capacity to have feelings—mental states that are consciously experienced as good or bad. Examples include love and hate, joy and anger, excitement and exhaustion, happiness and depression, hunger and thirst. A particularly salient feeling is pain, such as the "sharp pain" of an injection or the "dull throb" of a headache. These feelings have an important evolutionary function: motivating and teaching us to avoid harm, such as sharp objects or bumps on the head (Kolodny et al., 2021). Yet, due to its intrinsic aversiveness, extreme or unnecessary pain leads to major ethical concerns. Many argue that animal welfare only matters if the animal is sentient and can experience pain (Duncan, 1996; Fraser et al., 1997). Feeling pain is therefore central to whether a living being deserves moral consideration.

How can we tell whether an animal feels pain? First, we must distinguish pain from nociception. Nociception is the detection of noxious stimuli (Tracey, 2005, 2017), or stimuli that may cause tissue damage (Cervero and Merskey, 1996). Nociception does not require pain: hand withdrawal from a hot stove is a nociceptive reflex controlled by neurons relaying signals from the nociceptors in the hand, to the spinal cord, and back again (Defrin et al., 2007). All this happens before nerve impulses reach the brain (where pain is experienced). Thus, when animals display nociception, this does not necessarily demonstrate that they can feel pain (Adamo, 2016; Magee and Elwood, 2013; Sneddon et al., 2014). However, when nociceptive signals are transmitted to the brain, this may lead to the aversive, subjective experience of pain (Auvray et al., 2010; Birch et al., 2020).

While it is essential to distinguish between indicators of nociception and pain, the fundamental challenge of pain is that scientists cannot directly measure this subjective and inherently private experience (Frischenschlager and Pucher, 2002). Even in humans, who can self-report their pain and describe its severity (Heft et al., 1980; Wideman et al., 2019), we can never be certain we are accurately measuring pain (Frischenschlager and Pucher, 2002). This issue is exacerbated in non-human animals who cannot verbally self-report. Therefore, researchers rely mainly on two lines of indirect evidence: (1) whether the animal has a nervous system that might support pain, and (2) whether they exhibit behaviours potentially caused by pain (Briffa, 2022; Crump and Birch, 2022). Given functionally similar neuroanatomy and analogous behavioural responses to harm, few dispute that mammals and birds feel pain (Gentle, 1992). There is also growing expert consensus on pain in other animals, including the invertebrate cephalopod molluscs and decapod crustaceans (Crump et al., 2022; Elwood, 2012).

Some early entomologists and naturalists asserted a belief in insect sentience, such as Charles Darwin (1872) and Charles Henry Turner (Galpayage Dona and Chittka, 2020; Turner, 1912). However, by the mid-20th century, the notion that insects are purely instinctual/reflexive had gained popularity (for a historical overview in myrmecology, see Sleigh, 2007). Anecdotal accounts of insects appearing to behave normally after extreme injury were taken as evidence against pain (Eisemann et al., 1984; Wigglesworth, 1980). Despite lacking empirical support, these accounts have received hundreds of citations in entomology, comparative cognition, and welfare/ethics (e.g., Adamo, 2016; Ng, 1995; Sneddon et al., 2014). Another popular argument against insect pain is that insect brains are too small, or lack the appropriate neural connections, to support sentience (Adamo, 2016; Allen-Hermanson, 2008, 2016; Hill, 2016; Key et al., 2016, 2021). For example, Adamo (2019) argued that the lack of direct connections between integrative brain regions that process noxious stimuli, which are essential for pain in vertebrates (Garcia-Larrea and Bastuji, 2018), likely precludes the experience of pain. However, such direct connections have now been found in adult Drosophila melanogaster fruit flies (Diptera: Drosophilidae; Li et al., 2020a). This highlights how lack of evidence may serve as a poor guide for drawing accurate conclusions about insect nervous systems and their psychological correlates.

New psychological evidence is consistent with some form of sentience in insects, such as "emotion-like" cognitive biases (Bateson et al., 2011; Solvi et al., 2016). Further, insects display nocifensive behaviour (defensive or protective behaviours in response to noxious stimuli) that different stimuli and contexts can modulate (Gibbons et al., 2022a, b). Although small, insect

nervous systems are exquisitely complex (Chittka and Niven, 2009; Giurfa, 2013) and may perform many of the same functions as mammalian nervous systems, even without homologous brain structures (e.g., Varga and Ritzmann, 2016). Insects do not have a visual cortex, for example, but there is no doubt that they can see. It is thus possible that insects may also experience pain, but underpinned by different neural circuits than mammals (e.g., multiple realizability and related theses: Chittka et al., 2012; Mallatt and Feinberg, 2021).

From an ethical standpoint, whether insects feel pain is an urgent question. Trillions of insects are farmed, managed in the wild, and used for research or other purposes every year. There are currently no guidelines for considering their welfare in these settings, and they are almost universally excluded from animal welfare legislation. This is based, at least in part, on the assumption that insects do not feel pain.

In this article, we assess the evidence for pain in insects. First, we outline the assessment framework (Section 2). We then review the neural and cognitive/behavioural evidence for insect pain across six orders, at different developmental stages (Section 3). We use this framework to judge the current likelihood of pain in insects, and consider the review's limitations (Section 4). Finally, we briefly discuss the contexts in which humans use insects and the potential welfare concerns of such usage (Section 5).

2. How we evaluate evidence for pain

In a report commissioned by the UK government, Birch et al. (2021) developed a new framework for evaluating evidence of animal sentience, with a focus on pain (later published as Crump et al., 2022). Birch et al. (2021) write that "pain is one example within a broader category of negatively-valenced affective states, a category which also includes states of anxiety, fear, hunger, thirst, coldness, discomfort and boredom" (Birch et al., 2021, p. 12). Building on previous work (e.g., Bateson, 1991; Smith and Boyd, 1991; Sneddon et al., 2014), the authors listed eight criteria that, if satisfied, add to the case for pain experiences:

- 1. Nociceptors: The animal possesses receptors sensitive to noxious stimuli (nociceptors).
- **2. Integrative brain regions:** The animal possesses integrative brain regions capable of integrating information from different sensory sources.

- **3. Integrated nociception:** The animal possesses neural pathways connecting the nociceptors to the integrative brain regions.
- 4. Analgesia: The animal's behavioural response to a noxious stimulus is modulated by chemical compounds affecting the nervous system in either or both of the following ways:
 - **a. Endogenous:** The animal possesses an endogenous neurotransmitter system that modulates (in a way consistent with the experience of pain, distress or harm) their responses to threatened or actual noxious stimuli.
 - **b.** Exogenous: Putative local anaesthetics, analgesics (such as opioids), anxiolytics or anti-depressants modify an animal's responses to threatened or actually noxious stimuli in a way consistent with the hypothesis that these compounds attenuate the experience of pain, distress or harm.
- 5. Motivational trade-offs: The animal shows motivational trade-offs, in which the disvalue of a noxious or threatening stimulus is weighed (traded-off) against the value of an opportunity for reward, leading to flexible decision-making. Enough flexibility must be shown to indicate centralised, integrative processing of information involving an evaluative common currency.
- 6. Flexible self-protection: The animal shows flexible self-protective behaviour (e.g., wound tending, guarding, grooming, rubbing) of a type likely to involve representing the bodily location of a noxious stimulus.
- **7. Associative learning:** The animal shows associative learning in which noxious stimuli become associated with neutral stimuli, and/or in which novel ways of avoiding noxious stimuli are learned through reinforcement.
- 8. Analgesia preference: The animal shows that they value a putative analgesic or anaesthetic when injured in one or more of the following ways:
 - **a. Self-administration:** The animal learns to self-administer putative analgesics or anaesthetics when injured.
 - **b.** Conditioned place preference: The animal learns to prefer, when injured, a location at which analgesics or anaesthetics can be accessed.
 - **c. Prioritisation:** The animal prioritises obtaining these compounds over other needs (such as food) when injured.

For our purpose, Birch et al.'s (2021) criteria have several advantages. They are clear, empirically testable, and designed to assess animals that have attracted

little specific pain or sentience research. The criteria were also developed with invertebrates in mind. For example, Smith and Boyd (1991) specified opioids (in Criterion 4), as in humans, while Birch et al. (2021) generalised this to any endogenous neurotransmitters. They also introduced several cognitive and behavioural criteria (Criteria 5–8). Simple nociceptive reflexes cannot satisfy these criteria, unlike Smith and Boyd's (1991) "[Responses] functionally similar to the human response" or Sneddon et al.'s (2014) "Behavioural changes from norm". Finally, the equal weighting of neural and cognitive/behavioural criteria is likely to be necessary, but not sufficient, for sentience in insects; therefore, we stress that these criteria are only meant to *add to the case* for sentience. Birch et al.'s (2021) framework uses confidence levels to communicate the likelihood that an animal satisfies each criterion. The five possible confidence levels are:

- (1) "Very high confidence", when the weight of scientific evidence leaves no scope for reasonable doubt;
- (2) "High confidence", when we are convinced that the animal satisfies or fails the criterion, although scope for reasonable doubt remains;
- (3) "Medium confidence", when concerns about the evidence's reliability and quality prevent us from having high confidence;
- (4) "Low confidence", when there is little or flawed evidence;
- (5) "Very low confidence", when the evidence is seriously inadequate or when there is no evidence whatsoever to make a determination (e.g., no confidence).

The lower confidence levels do not imply that an animal has failed the criterion—the evidence may simply be low-quality or unavailable. It is important to distinguish between absence of evidence and evidence of absence, as both are "very low confidence" (Mallatt and Feinberg, 2022). Thus, in this review, we clarify when the absence of evidence is driving the 'very low confidence' rating by adding "no research found".

After summing the information from all the criteria, Birch et al. (2021) suggested a grading scheme for determining our confidence that an animal is sentient (detailed in section 4). The criteria are intended to cast a wide net for relevant evidence, leaving room for debate about which types of evidence are most salient and why. In other words, the aim is to capture all evidence that shifts the probability of sentience, even if the effect is small. For example, the mere presence of nociceptors (Criterion 1) is clearly weak evidence for sentience by itself, but is included because it is a relevant (if small) part of

the overall picture. Further, there is continuing debate about which specific forms of associative learning are most relevant to questions of sentience and why (Ginsburg and Jablonka, 2019; Birch et al., 2020, 2021). Criterion 7 takes all evidence of associative learning involving noxious stimuli as part of the overall picture, leaving room for this ongoing debate, which may eventually allow us to pin down a subset of this evidence as especially relevant.

As there are over one million described insect species (Zhang, 2011) and many more undescribed (Stork, 2018), we choose to focus our review on six orders of insects: Coleoptera (beetles), Blattodea (cockroaches), Diptera (flies and mosquitoes), Hymenoptera (bees, wasps, sawflies, and ants), Lepidoptera (butterflies and moths) and Orthoptera (crickets, katydids, and grasshoppers), which contain several model species studied for their neuroanatomy and behaviour. These orders cover virtually all commercially important species and include a broad swath of insect diversity. Since only a few species have ever attracted in-depth study within each order, we will tentatively generalise the findings from these insects (listed in Table 1) to the rest of their orders, while acknowledging that more detailed phylogenetic analysis is a goal for the future (Birch, 2017).

In addition to species differences, insects' anatomy and behaviour may change substantially across development. Some insects are hemimetabolous: juveniles are mostly smaller, non-reproductive versions of adults, often occupying similar ecological niches (e.g., crickets and cockroaches: Mito et al., 2010). Other insects are holometabolous: larvae must undergo a complete metamorphosis (during pupation) to obtain their adult form (e.g., moths, flies, bees, beetles). In this case, larvae and adults may use very different ecological niches, with resulting anatomical and behavioural consequences (Rolff et al., 2019). Pupation may involve complete reorganisation of multiple brain regions for some holometabolous taxa, while hemimetabolous taxa see much less drastic change post-embryogenesis (Fahrbach, 2006; Farris and Strausfeld, 2001; Malaterre et al., 2002).

If an animal is capable of pain, this capacity must arise at some point during their development. We have thus assessed our confidence that each taxon meets the criteria separately for both juveniles and adults. In a few cases, data conflict between first and later instar juveniles, or are only available for last instar juveniles. In these cases, we provide two separate ratings in the table, to represent our uncertainty about when during juvenile development this criterion is fulfilled.
 Table 1 Guide to the species names and common names of included insects, listed alphabetically by abbreviated name.

Abbreviated name	Species full name (homotypic synonyms)	Order: Family	Genbank common names, and others (if applicable)
A. compressa	Ampulex compressa	Hymenoptera: Ampulicidae	no Genbank name; Emerald cockroach wasp, jewel wasp
A. diaperinus	Alphitobius diaperinus	Coleoptera: Tenebrionidae	lesser mealworm (beetle)
A. domesticus	Acheta domesticus	Orthoptera: Gryllidae	house cricket
A. gambiae*	Anopheles gambiae	Diptera: Culicidae	African malaria mosquito
A. ipsilon	Agrotis ipsilon (Phalaena ipsilon)	Lepidoptera: Noctuidae	black cutworm moth
A. mellifera	Apis mellifera	Hymenoptera: Apidae	Western honey bee
B. germanica	Blattella germanica	Blattodea: Ectobiidae	German cockroach
B. impatiens	Bombus impatiens	Hymenoptera: Apidae	common eastern bumble bee
B. mori	Bombyx mori	Lepidoptera: Bombycidae	domestic silkworm (moth)
B. terrestris	Bombus terrestris	Hymenoptera: Apidae	buff-tailed bumble bee
C. aethiops	Camponotus aethiops	Hymenoptera: Formicidae	no Genbank name; carpenter ant
C. pomonella	Cydia pomonella	Lepidoptera: Tortricidae	codling moth
D. coccus	Dactylopius coccus	Hemiptera: Dactylopiidae	no Genbank name; cochineal (scale bug)
D. melanogaster	Drosophila melanogaster	Diptera: Drosophilidae	fruit fly, vinegar fly (Green 2002)**
D. plexippus	Danaus plexippus	Lepidoptera: Nymphilidae	monarch butterfly
F. rufa	Formica rufa	Hymenoptera: Formicidae	no Genbank name; wood ants
G. assimilis	Gryllus assimilis	Orthoptera: Gryllidae	no Genbank name (cricket)
G. bimaculatus	Gryllus bimaculatus	Orthoptera: Gryllidae	two-spotted field cricket; Mediterranean field cricket
G. molesta	Grapholita molesta (Cydia molesta)	Lepidoptera: Torticidae	oriental fruit moth
G. portentosa	Gromphadorhina portentosa	Blattodea: Blaberidae	giant Madagascar hissing cockroach
G. sigillatus	Gryllodes sigillatus	Orthoptera: Gryllidae	no Genbank name (cricket)
H. armigera	Helicoverpa armigera	Lepidoptera: Noctunidae	cotton bollworm (moth)

H. illucens	Hermetia illucens	Diptera: Stratiomyidae	no Genbank name; black soldier fly
J. fuscaria	Jankowskia fuscaria	Lepidoptera: Geometridae	no Genbank name; bark-like moths
К. Іасса	Kerria lacca	Hemiptera: Kerriidae	common lac scale (bug)
L. decemlineata	Leptinotarsa decemlineata (Stilodes decemlineata)	Coleoptera: Chrysomelidae	Colorado potato beetle
L. kohalensis	Laupala kohalensis	Orthoptera: Trigonidiidae	no Genbank name; Hawaiian cricket
L. migratoria	Locusta migratoria	Orthoptera: Acridoidea	migratory locust
M. analis	Megaponera analis (Pachycondyla analis)	Hymenoptera: Formicidae	no Genbank name (ants)
M. domestica	Musca domestica	Diptera: Stratiomyidae	house fly
M. sexta	Manduca sexta	Lepidoptera: Sphingidae	tobacco hornworm (moth)
N. cinerea	Nauphoeta cinerea	Blattodea: Blaberidae	grey cockroach; speckled cockroach
P. americana	Periplaneta americana (Blatta americana)	Blattodea: Blattidae	American cockroach
P. rapae	Pieris rapae	Lepidoptera: Pieridae	cabbage white (butterfly)
P. terraenovae	Protophormia terraenovae (Phormia terraenovae)	Diptera: Calliphoridae	northern blowfly; blue-bottle fly
P. xuthus	Papilio xuthus	Lepidoptera: Papilionidae	Asian swallowtail
Pteronemobius†	Pteronemobius sp.	Orthoptera: Gryllidae	no Genbank name; (cricket)
S. americana	Schistocerca americana	Orthoptera: Acrididae	American grasshopper
S. gregaria	Schistocerca gregaria	Orthoptera: Acrididae	no Genbank name; desert locust (grasshopper)
S. bullata	Sarcophaga bullata (Neobellieria bullata)	Diptera: Sarcophagidae	grey fleshfly
S. invicta	Solenopsis invicta	Hymenoptera: Formicidae	red fire ant, red imported fire ant
S. littoralis	Spodoptera littoralis	Lepidoptera: Noctuidae	African cotton leafworm (moth)
T. castaneum	Tribolium castaneum	Coleoptera: Tenebrionidae	red flour beetle
T. molitor	Tenebrio molitor	Coleoptera: Tenebrionidae	yellow mealworm (beetle)
Z. nevadensis	Zootermposis nevadensis	Blattodea: Termitoidae	No Genbank name (termite)

Light purple=holometabolous; light red=hemimetabolous. * Please note that the *A. gambiae* is a species complex. ** Despite the fact that vinegar fly is likely the correct name for this species (Green 2002), we use fruit fly to avoid confusion for a broader audience and to match the Genbank common name. [†] Species not listed.

3. Pain in insects: A review of the evidence

3.1 Criterion 1: Nociception

The animal possesses receptors sensitive to noxious (i.e., potentially or actually harmful, damaging) stimuli (nociceptors)

This criterion specifies the most basic prerequisite for experiencing pain. If fulfilled, the animal has the neurobiological capacity for nociception. Vertebrates detect noxious stimuli through specialised peripheral sensory neurons: nociceptive neurons (Dubin and Patapoutian, 2010), characterised by free nerve endings under the epidermis. Fruit fly larvae have an anatomically-similar type of neuron with complex dendritic branches throughout the epidermal layer (Grueber et al., 2001). Class IV multidendritic neurons (see Fig. 1), present from the first instar, are multimodal but respond only to noxious stimuli (noxious heat, mechanical, and chemical stimuli) and not gentle touch (Gerhard et al., 2017; Hwang et al., 2007; Lopez-Bellido et al., 2019; Tracey et al., 2003; Zhong et al., 2010). The activation of class IV multidendritic neurons facilitates a corkscrew-like rolling behaviour in third instar fruit fly larvae. Blocking the neurons' function via genetic manipulation prevents nocifensive rolling in response to noxious heat and mechanical stimuli, while optogenetic activation produces the rolling response (Hwang et al., 2007; Tracey et al., 2003). Based on their essential role in nociception, these neurons are considered nociceptors.

Fruit fly larvae also have separate multimodal class III neurons that respond to non-noxious stimuli such as gentle touch and noxious cold (Yan et al., 2013). These neurons mediate an activation-level-dependent suite of behaviours that are distinct from those induced by noxious heat (Turner et al., 2016). Therefore, fruit fly larvae have multiple classes of neurons for different types of noxious stimuli.

There is also evidence for nociceptive multidendritic neurons in the larvae of the *Manduca sexta* moth (otherwise known as the tobacco hornworm [Lepidoptera: Sphingidae]). These γ multidendritic neurons have similar anatomical characteristics to the class IV multidendritic neurons in fruit fly larvae (Grueber et al., 2001; Grueber and Truman, 1999). These neurons fire specifically in response to thermal and mechanical noxious stimuli (Caron et al., 2020).

Fruit fly adults also exhibit nocifensive responses specific to noxious stimuli (e.g., jumping on a noxiously-heated plate: Xu et al., 2006). To our knowledge, dedicated sensory neurons that only respond to noxious



Fig. 1 A *Drosophila melanogaster* fruit fly larva and nociceptor. (A) The mouthparts, brain, ventral nerve cord and segmental nerves. (B) A nociceptive multidendritic class IV neuron, which is seen below the epidermis. (C) The membrane of the multidendritic neuron, which expresses a TRP channel. An ion passes through, to demonstrate the activation of the multidendritic neuron during the detection of a noxious stimulus.

stimuli in adults have not yet been found. Larval class IV multidendritic neurons are pruned and regrow during pupation, developing into complex sensory neurons that cover the body wall of the adult fly (Shimono et al., 2009), but whether these directly respond to noxious stimuli has not been tested. There are adult sensory neurons that regulate nocifensive responses: blocking the sensory neurons expressing the ion channel *pickpocket* prevented flies from displaying a sensitised jump response to noxious heat (Khuong et al., 2019). Therefore, there is evidence of nociceptors in fruit fly adults, but the specific neuron subtypes have not yet been identified.

In the American cockroach (*Periplaneta americana*; Blattodea: Blattidae), activity in the sensory afferent nerve differs in response to noxious stimuli vs. non-noxious tactile ones, demonstrating the presence of nociceptive sensory

neurons (Emanuel and Libersat, 2019). The authors posited that these neurons likely have a similar architecture to the multidendritic neurons found in fruit fly and *M. sexta* moth larvae. Further, application of the noxious chemical allyl-isothiocyanate, which activates nociceptive neurons in mammals (Jordt et al., 2004), causes *P. americana* cockroaches to avoid a noxiously-heated arena more than controls (Maliszewska, 2018b). Topical application of allyl-isothiocyanate also causes a concentration-dependent decrease in the cockroaches' preferred temperature (Maliszewska et al., 2018a). These data indicate *P. americana* cockroaches have nociceptive neurons.

Key features of vertebrate nociceptive neurons are their nociceptive ion channels which are responsible for detecting noxious stimuli. These include transient receptor potential (TRP) ion channels (such as TRPA1: Julius, 2013) and degenerin/epithelial sodium channels (DEG/ENaC: Ben-Shahar, 2011). Both ion channel types occur in the fruit fly class IV multidendritic neurons (see Fig. 1) (Adams et al., 1998; Ainsley et al., 2003; Kim et al., 2012; Tracey et al., 2003). Removing the TRP-channel-coding gene painless in mutant larvae suppresses their rolling response to noxious stimuli (Tracey et al., 2003), and calcium imaging of painless-expressing human embryonic kidney cells confirms that this channel directly senses noxious heat (Sokabe et al., 2008). Mutant larvae without the gene encoding for pickpocket (a DEG/ENaC subunit; Zhong et al., 2010), or the gene for the ion channel Dmpiezo (Kim et al., 2012), also have a suppressed nocifensive rolling response, but still respond to gentle touch. These ion channels are thus required for nocifensive responses to noxious heat (painless) or noxious mechanical stimuli (painless, pickpocket, and Dmpiezo).

Genes that code for nociceptive ion channels are, in many cases, evolutionarily ancient. Sponges, which diverged from all other metazoans >600 million years ago (Srivastava et al., 2010), have TRPA1 genes (Peng et al., 2015). Besides Hymenoptera, all orders covered in this review have TRPA1, which has been found in the genomes of *M. sexta* moths, Helicoverpa armigera (Lepidoptera: Noctuidae) cotton bollworm moths, Bombyx mori (Lepidoptera: Bombycidae) domestic silkworm moths, Pieris rapae (Lepidoptera: Pieridae) cabbage white butterflies, Papilio xuthus (Lepidoptera: Papilionidae) Asian swallowtail butterflies, Danaus plexippus (Lepidoptera: Nymphalidae) monarch butterflies, Blattella germanica (Blattodea: Ectobiidae) German cockroaches, Zootermopsis nevadensis (Blattodea: Termitoidae) termites, Anopheles gambiae (Diptera: Culicidae) African malaria Tribolium mosquitoes, castaneum (Coleoptera: Tenebrionidae) red flour beetles, and the transcriptome of Locusta migratoria

(Orthoptera: Acridoidea) migratory locust eggs (Matsuura et al., 2009; Peng et al., 2015; Tu et al., 2015; Wei et al., 2015).

The nociceptive function of these TRPA1 channels has been tested in the adults of only a few species. RNAi inhibition of TRPA1 function reduces the avoidance of noxious heat (42 °C) in *T. castaneum* beetles. Unexpectedly, inhibiting *painless* does not reduce heat avoidance; the authors suggest that *painless* may respond to temperatures above 42 °C (Kim et al., 2015). Expressing the *H. armigera* moth TRPA1 channel in *Xenopus* frog oocytes increases electrophysiological activity in response to both noxious temperature and the noxious chemical, allyl-isothiocyanate (Wei et al., 2015). Mutant TRPA1 fruit flies also fail to avoid noxious chemicals (Kang et al., 2010).

Hymenoptera have a TRPA channel specific to their order, HsTRPA, which may have evolved to replace the function of TRPA1 (Mao et al., 2020; Matsuura et al., 2009; Peng et al., 2015; Wang et al., 2018). HsTRPA-expressing human embryonic kidney cells (a technique used for recording stimulus-induced cellular calcium influx) respond to both high temperatures and the application of noxious chemicals, supporting the role of HsTRPA as a replacement for TRPA1 (Kohno et al., 2010). Chemical inhibition of HsTRPA via injection blocks the nocifensive sting extension reflex in Western honey bees (Apis mellifera; Hymenoptera: Apidae). However, applying HsTRPA-activating chemicals directly to the cuticle is insufficient to induce the reflex. Junca and Sandoz (2015) posit that the chemicals are unable to diffuse through the bees' cuticle to reach the channel. Expression of red fire ant (Solenopsis invicta; Hymenoptera: Formicidae) HsTRPA in TRPA1-mutant adult fruit flies, and in the class IV multidendritic neurons of mutant fly larvae, rescues their nocifensive response to noxious heat. Additionally, four SiHsTRPA-activating compounds repel S. invicta ant workers (Wang et al., 2018).

The genes for *painless*, TRPm, and two TRPV channels have also been found in all tested insects, including multiple species of Lepidoptera, Hymenoptera, and Diptera, as well as *T. castaneum* beetles and *B. germanica* cockroaches (Peng et al., 2015, Mao et al., 2020). *Painless* mutant flies display longer nocifensive jump latencies in two noxious thermal assays (Xu et al., 2006), and selectively avoid ingesting foods containing noxious (but not non-noxious) chemicals (Al-Anzi et al., 2006; but see Kang et al., 2010). TRPm is required for fruit fly larval cold nociception by class III neurons (Turner et al., 2016). Capsaicin (a noxious TRPV1 channel agonist in humans; Pingle et al., 2007) decreases the preferred temperature of

T. molitor beetle larvae, *Leptinotarsa decemlineata* (Coleoptera: Chrysomelidae) Colorado potato beetle adults, and *P. americana* cockroaches. *L. decemlineata* beetle temperature preference shifts are life stage-dependent, as the temperature preferred by larvae increases in response to capsaicin; however, these differences may also be due to other changes in capsaicin delivery method between studies (Adamkiewicz et al., 2012; Maliszewska and Tęgowska, 2012; Olszewska and Tęgowska, 2011; Tegowska et al., 2004).

TRPs are not the only possible nociceptive ion channels present in insects. The two-spotted field cricket (*Gryllus bimaculatus;* Orthoptera: Gryllidae) and Hawaiian cricket (*Laupala kohalensis;* Orthoptera: Trigonidiidae) have the DEG/ENaC channel *pickpocket* class V gene family (Ylla et al., 2021). However, the function of this channel in crickets has not been clarified, and *pickpocket* has many different roles in fruit flies. Finally, the gene *straightjacket* codes for a member of the $\alpha 2\delta$ family of voltage-gated Ca²⁺ channels, whose ortholog is involved in mammalian nociception. *Straightjacket* knockout fruit flies avoid noxious heat less than wild-type flies (Neely et al., 2010), suggesting a possible role in nociception.

In summary, there is both functional and genetic evidence for nociceptive ion channels, and/or evidence of specific sensory neuron populations that respond to noxious stimuli, in **adult Coleoptera**, **Diptera**, **Hymenoptera**, and **Lepidoptera**, as well as juvenile **Diptera** and **Lepidoptera**. These orders fulfil the criterion with very high confidence at these life stages (Table 2). In **adult** and **juvenile Blattodea** and **Orthoptera**, and **juvenile Coleoptera** and **Hymenoptera**, there is

Insect order	Adult	Juvenile
Blattodea	Н	Н
Coleoptera	VH	н
Diptera	VH	VH
Hymenoptera	VH	Н
Lepidoptera	VH	VH
Orthoptera	Н	н

 Table 2 Confidence levels for criterion 1 (nociception). Information in the right column is for first instar juveniles.

VH=Very high; H=High.

genomic and/or transcriptomic evidence of nociceptive ion channels. However, the expression of these genes in neurons, and their subsequent function, have not been directly tested. Therefore, we only have high confidence for these orders at these life stages. Further data demonstrating the expression of nociceptive ion channels *specifically* in sensory neurons in all orders would be beneficial, uniting the behavioural data on nociceptive responses across orders (Criterion 5–8) and the mostly genetic data on nociceptive ion channels reviewed in this criterion.

3.2 Criterion 2: Sensory integration

The animal possesses brain regions capable of integrating information from different sensory sources

Pain is different from nociception in that the former, but not the latter, is a conscious experience. Consciousness involves integrating multiple sensory inputs to generate a unified stream of experience, with this integration happening in dedicated brain regions (Birch et al., 2020; Feinberg and Mallatt, 2020; Mudrik et al., 2014). It is a point of wide agreement that the presence of integrative brain regions raises the probability of sentience (Smith and Boyd, 1991), despite continuing disagreement about what kinds of integration matter and why (Mudrik et al., 2014; Barron and Klein, 2016; Mashour et al., 2020). Stronger evidence for conscious awareness comes from psychological experiments demonstrating multisensory cognitive operations on mental representations, as found in bees (Giurfa et al., 2001; Lawson et al., 2018; Solvi et al., 2020). However, the Birch et al. (2021) framework aims to cast a wide net in search of relevant evidence for insect sentience, so any evidence of multisensory integration within the brain is considered relevant.

Multisensory integration *outside* the brain is not relevant. Some low-level multisensory integration can occur outside the brain in the spinal cord (in vertebrates: Cervero and Tattersall, 1986) or in the ventral nerve cord (in insects: Ohyama et al., 2015; Wessnitzer and Webb, 2006). However, the brain must be involved to produce subjective experience. This criterion is concerned with the presence or absence of brain regions dedicated to integrative functions.

All our focal orders use multisensory information, which is integrated for learning, memory, and the motor responses necessary for mating, navigation, foraging/feeding, communication, escape, flight control, and more (reviewed in Buehlmann et al., 2020; Kinoshita et al., 2017; Mongeau et al., 2021; Taylor and Krapp, 2007; Thiagarajan and Sachse, 2022). To fulfil this criterion, we must have evidence in the nervous system (not just behavioural evidence) that integrative brain regions either receive multisensory inputs or have multisensory responses.

The structural organisation of the adult insect brain is broadly conserved across insects (e.g., insect brain database: Heinze et al., 2021). The brain regions most important to our review are found in the supraesophageal ganglion, which consists of three large divisions: the proto-, deuto-, and tritocerebrum. In the protocerebrum, a few 'higher order' brain regions are responsible for most sensory integration across all insect orders: the *mushroom bodies, central complex,* and *lateral horn* (see Fig. 2) (Thiagarajan and Sachse, 2022). These are the brain regions that we will consider as the 'integrative brain regions' for this criterion (and subsequently, Criterion 3).



Fig. 2 A frontal view of the *Drosophila melanogaster* fruit fly brain. In colour are the integrative brain regions: the mushroom bodies, central complex and lateral horn. In grey are other sensory regions in the brain. These regions are seen in other insect species, although they differ in multiple ways, such as size or structure.

However, it is important to note that some multisensory processing can occur in other brain regions. As one example, multisensory integration may occur in the primary sensory centres (e.g., some neurons may input bimodal information in the adult *A. mellifera* honey bee and fruit fly larval antennal lobes: Tiraboschi et al., 2021; Berck et al., 2016).

The mushroom bodies are higher order centres for learning, memory, and sensory integration, and have historically been considered the seat of insect "intelligence" (Dujardin, 1850). They are present in all adult insects except the Archaeognatha (Strausfeld et al., 2009), with variation across orders in their volume and structure, as well as the types, numbers, and connections of their cells (Chittka and Niven, 2009; Farris, 2013; Farris and Strausfeld, 2003; Oya et al., 2017). As one example, the mushroom bodies of adult *A. mellifera* have nearly ~340,000 total intrinsic neurons (40% of total brain cells) while fruit flies have only ~5000 (3–5% of total brain cells: Witthöft, 1967; Schürmann, 1987). Structural variation may impact the role of the mushroom bodies in specific multisensory integration tasks across taxa (Farris and Van Dyke, 2015; Strausfeld et al., 1998).

In all focal orders, the mushroom bodies have two broad regions: the calyces and the lobes. The calyces contain the dendrites of the mushroom body intrinsic neurons (known as Kenyon cells). Projection neurons carrying sensory signals from the primary sensory centres (directly, or indirectly via the protocerebral mass) each diverge to meet multiple Kenyon cells in the calyces (Ehmer and Gronenberg, 2002; Strausfeld et al., 1998; Sun et al., 2021; Thiagarajan and Sachse, 2022). Projection neurons and Kenyon cells may be generally associated, as in locusts, or isolated into parallel subsystems, as in fruit flies (Martin et al., 2011). Single Kenyon cells play a role in integrating multiple sensory inputs to the mushroom body calyces in some orders (Farris 2008a; Martin et al., 2011). For example, in P. americana cockroaches, Kenyon cell dendrites may span multiple calyx zones that receive different sensory afferents (Strausfeld and Li, 1999a, 1999b). Multisensory inputs to the mushroom body calyces have been reported in cockroaches, flies, butterflies, crickets, bees, beetles, and ants (Farris 2008b, 2008c; Gronenberg, 1999, 2001; Kinoshita et al., 2017; Nishino et al., 2012; Strausfeld and Li, 1999a; Yagi et al., 2016).

The second region is formed by the mushroom body lobes, containing the axons of the Kenyon cells. The axons generally bifurcate to produce one or more mushroom body lobes (Strausfeld, 2002). The lobes may also be supplied directly by afferents from the protocerebrum (Ito et al., 1998; Li and Strausfeld, 1997; Schildberger, 1984; Strausfeld, 1998). Connections in the mushroom body lobes between Kenyon cell axons, modulatory neurons and output neurons facilitate learning and coordinate behaviour (Li et al., 2020a). Improved memory of unimodal cues via cross-modal training occurs due to plastic changes in cellular connectivity in the lobes (Okray et al., 2022). Output neurons may thus receive input from multiple sensory modalities to coordinate multisensory responses (Li et al., 2020a). Multimodal responses by neurons in the mushroom body lobes have been recorded in crickets, bees, flies and cockroaches (Li and Strausfeld, 1997; Li and Strausfeld, 1999; Okada et al., 1999; Okray et al., 2022; Rybak and Menzel, 1998; Strube-Bloss and Rössler, 2018).

The mushroom body calyces and lobes are functionally divided by modality in different ways across taxa; this structural variation affects where sensory integration occurs (Farris 2008a; Martin et al., 2011; Strausfeld and Li, 1999b; Thiagarajan and Sachse, 2022). For example, the lip, collar, and basal ring zones of the *A. mellifera* honey bee calyces receive information from olfactory afferents, visual afferents, or a combination of olfactory, visual, and gustatory or mechanosensory afferents (Gronenberg, 2001; Strausfeld, 2002). However, class II Kenyon cells representing all calyx zones supply the same mushroom body lobe for further integration (λ lobe; Strausfeld, 2002). Overall, this organisation suggests that, in multiple orders, each lobe functions to integrate different combinations of stimuli (Li et al., 2020a; Yagi et al., 2016). It is thus well-documented that the mushroom bodies are pivotal in sensory integration in insects.

Another site for multisensory integration is the central complex, a structurally conserved region of interconnected neuropils at the midline of the protocerebrum (Homberg, 1987; Wolff et al., 2015). It has speciesdependent roles in spatial navigation, descending control of locomotion, nociceptive perception, memory, and more (Barron and Klein, 2016; Klein and Barron, 2016; Pfeiffer and Homberg, 2014; Plath and Barron, 2015; Thiagarajan and Sachse, 2022). Depending on the order, central complex neurons may respond to visual, olfactory, proprioceptive, mechanosensory, or nociceptive information (Hu et al., 2017; Klein and Barron, 2016; Pfeiffer and Homberg, 2014). Many individual neurons are sensitive to multiple stimuli. For example, specific neurons in the central complex of the grey fleshfly (Sarcophaga bullata, Diptera: Sarcophagidae) respond to mechanical (air puffs) as well as visual information (Phillips-Portillo, 2012). Multisensory sensitivity of central complex neurons has been recorded in bees, cockroaches, flies and locusts (Homberg, 1994; Homberg, 1985; Matheson et al., 2021; Milde, 1988; Ritzmann et al., 2008; Rosner and Homberg, 2013; Vitzthum et al., 2002).

Additionally, fruit fly mushroom body output neurons connect to the central complex to coordinate experienced-based motor behaviours (Collett and Collett, 2018; Li et al., 2020a; Plath et al., 2017; Thiagarajan and Sachse, 2022); direct connections between these two brain regions have previously been identified as a necessary prerequisite for pain experience in insects (Adamo, 2019). The central complex clearly plays a role in multisensory integration across taxa.

The third integrative brain region, the lateral horn, has primarily been studied for its role in regulating innate olfactory-driven behaviours (Das Chakraborty and Sachse, 2021; Thiagarajan and Sachse, 2022). The fruit fly lateral horn receives input of visual, gustatory, mechanical, thermal, and auditory information to the ventral zone (Dolan et al., 2019), as well as information from mushroom body output neurons (Bates et al., 2020; Frechter et al., 2019; Li et al., 2020a). Multimodal responses of lateral horn neurons to visual and olfactory stimuli have been demonstrated in the American grasshopper, *Schistocerca americana* (Orthoptera: Acrididae [Gupta and Stopfer, 2012]). Projection neurons from the antennal lobe, which convey thermo-, hydro-, and chemosensory information, co-terminate in one region of the *P. americana* cockroach lateral horn (Nishino et al., 2003). Together, these data suggest that the multisensory integration in the lateral horn may be conserved in the adult insects of many orders.

The mushroom bodies, central complex, and lateral horn may not always be present during juvenile development; without these brain regions, juvenile insects may not fulfil this criterion. In hemimetabolous insects, the structure of these integrative brain regions is apparent following embryogenesis (Farris and Strausfeld, 2001; Farris and Sinakevitch, 2003; Malaterre et al., 2002; Pfeiffer and Homberg, 2014), though development of these regions will continue, sometimes even into adulthood (Cayre et al., 1994). Thus, juvenile hemimetabolous insect orders (Blattodea and Orthoptera in this review) are considered to have the same integrative brain regions as adults, although functional research that confirms these regions' involvement in multisensory integration of early instars would still be valuable.

In holometabolous insects, however, the brain is not fully developed following embryogenesis, and undergoes significant reorganisation during pupation (Fahrbach, 2006). Additionally, different orders of holometabolous insects may differ in the developmental timing of these brain regions, and their cell types (Fahrbach, 2006; Farris and Sinakevitch, 2003; Pfeiffer and Homberg, 2014). Taxonomic variation in the development of integrative brain regions may be the result of the lower adaptive value of multisensory integration for larvae of species with fewer action selection opportunities (Farris and Rio, 2012; Søvik et al., 2015). For example, the cognitive demands of a caterpillar that must find food and avoid predation may necessitate more sensory integration earlier in development, when compared to a honey bee larva being cared for by adults inside a small wax cell in the hive. For this reason, we suspect, the timing of integrative brain region development in holometabolous insects may vary across (or even within) orders.

First instar fruit fly larval mushroom bodies already have a small subset of the adult fly's Kenyon cells, and these receive multiple sensory inputs (Eichler et al., 2017; Eschbach and Zlatic, 2020; Li et al., 2020a; Li et al., 2020b); at the third instar, larvae can integrate information about tastes and odours (Saumweber et al., 2018). Other first instar larval dipterans also have developed mushroom bodies (Gundersen and Larsen, 1978), as do first instar larval T. castaneum beetles (Farnworth et al., 2022). By contrast, in first and second instar A. mellifera bee brains, only mushroom body neuroblasts are apparent, and indicators of Kenyon cells and mushroom body lobes do not appear until the third and fourth instar (Farris et al., 1999). First instar D. plexippus butterflies only have a few Kenyon cells and poorly developed mushroom bodies (Nordlander and Edwards, 1970). Additionally, calyx formation lags after Kenyon cell and lobe appearance in both larval bees and butterflies, suggesting their Kenyon cell axons are produced before dendrites (Farris and Sinakevitch, 2003). This, alongside late maturation of Kenyon cell dendritic morphology (Farris et al., 2001), could imply delayed development of multisensory integration until late larval, or even pupal, stages in these orders (although this has not been tested).

Central complex development also differs across holometabolous orders. This is likely to correspond with development of larval "legs" in some orders (e.g., moths and beetles vs. bees and flies). Larval legs increase mobility, which may require the central complex's spatial navigation or motor control functions (Pfeiffer and Homberg, 2014). In the legless *A. mellifera* bee and fruit fly larvae, the central complex is absent in the first instar; central complex subunits first develop in the third instar in fruit fly larvae (Young and Armstrong, 2010). By contrast, some central complex subunits are present in first instar *B. mori* and *M. sexta* moths, and *T. molitor* and *T. castaneum* beetles (Farnworth et al., 2022, but see Young and Armstrong, 2010), which have larval legs. Other regions of the central complex may develop before or after pupation, dependent on taxon (Granger et al., 1989; Homberg and Hildebrand, 1994; Wegerhoff et al., 1996; Wegerhoff and Breidbach, 1992;

Young and Armstrong, 2010). Additionally, while parts of the central complex may be developed by a particular larval stage, it is not well-established whether these parts perform multisensory integration. Finally, larval subunits may undergo consistent remodelling during development (*T. molitor*; Wegerhoff and Breidbach, 1992) with unknown effects on sensory integration functions.

Lateral horn temporal development is relatively poorly studied in larval insects. The larval fruit fly lateral horn receives convergent visual, thermosensory, and chemosensory inputs and, like in adults, is expected to play a role in innate valence (reviewed in Eschbach and Zlatic, 2020). Studies of third instar fruit fly larvae suggest connections between the lateral horn and mushroom body output neurons converge on neurons responsible for sensory integration and coordinating behaviour (Cardona and Lungu, 2021; Eschbach et al., 2021). This indicates that, in third instar larval fruit flies, the lateral horn is likely to be involved in sensory integration.

In summary, to fulfil this criterion (sensory integration) with very high confidence, the order must (1) have at least one of the above integrative brain regions, and (2) these brain regions must either receive multisensory inputs or have multisensory responses. All adults in the focal insect orders (adult Blattodea, Coleoptera, Diptera, Hymenoptera, Lepidoptera, and Orthoptera) meet both conditions, alongside juvenile Dipterans. In hemimetabolous juvenile insects (juvenile Blattodea and Orthoptera), multisensory integration has not been directly shown, however they have similar integrative brain regions to the adults. Therefore, we have high confidence of multisensory integration.

In **juvenile Coleoptera**, and first instar **juvenile Lepidoptera**, an incomplete but actively signalling central complex exists, but the central complex's role in multisensory integration is unknown. The mushroom bodies are either partially developed (Coleoptera) or underdeveloped (Lepidoptera); in neither case has multisensory integration been shown. We therefore have low confidence in the sensory integration abilities of these orders at this life stage. For first instar **juvenile Hymenoptera**, the central complex and mushroom bodies are both undeveloped, so we have very low confidence in their sensory integration. Mushroom body development increases with instar in both **juvenile Lepidoptera** and **Hymenoptera**. However, multisensory integration has not been demonstrated at these stages, thus we have medium confidence for last instar juveniles in these orders to meet Criterion 2 (Table 3).

 Table 3
 Confidence levels for criterion 2 (sensory integration). By default, information in the right column is for first instar juveniles. Where published information on later instars exists, cells are split; left: first instar; right: last instar.

Insect order	Adult	Juvenile			
Blattodea	VН	н			
Coleoptera	VH	L			
Diptera	VH	VH			
Hymenoptera	VH	VL M			
Lepidoptera	VH	L M			
Orthoptera	VH	н			

VH = Very high; H = High; M = Medium; L = Low; VL = Very low. When cells are split for juveniles, left cell indicates the first instar and right cell indicates the last instar.

3.3 Criterion 3: Integrated nociception

The animal possesses neural pathways connecting the nociceptors to the integrative brain regions

A requirement for pain experience is that nociceptor activation (Criterion 1) must lead to the nociceptive signal being integrated in the brain (Criterion 2). This requires connections between the nociceptors and integrative brain regions. Thus, an order cannot have a higher confidence level for Criterion 3 than for either 1 or 2, at a particular life stage. Moreover, some nocifensive responses can occur without the brain in insects (Booker and Quinn, 1981; Horridge, 1962; Ohyama et al., 2015; Yoshino et al., 2017) and vertebrates (Jindrich et al., 2009). Elucidating neural connections between the nociceptors and the brain can help differentiate nociceptive reflexes from possible pain experiences.

Nociception is one of many types of peripheral sensory information integrated in the brain. The ascending neural pathways are broadly similar across all types of sensory information, even if the cells involved may differ. Channels used for sensing stimuli are found in the dendrites of the sensory neurons (Criterion 1). The axons of these neurons project to modalityspecific layers within the ventral nerve cord (in a few cases, they may also project directly to the brain). In the ventral nerve cord, these axons connect with interneuron dendrites. Some of these interneurons project their axons to the brain, eventually converging on the integrative regions (see Criterion 2; Tsubouchi et al., 2017). In this manner, peripheral sensory information reaches integrative brain regions. While nociceptive pathways have not been precisely mapped in most orders/contexts, the same general architecture is likely to underpin the ascending nociceptive pathways of adult insects that meet criteria 1 and 2. Thus, we will focus on specific connections between the nociceptors and the integrative brain regions outlined in Criterion 2 (the mushroom bodies, central complex and lateral horn) as evidence for this criterion.

An ascending nociceptive pathway has been described for adult P. americana cockroaches (Emanuel and Libersat, 2019). Extracellular recordings from the axons of sensory neurons projecting to the abdominal ganglia reveal very different response profiles to non-noxious tactile stimuli vs. noxious heat. Recordings of ascending activity between the thoracic and suboesophageal ganglia (i.e., "neck connective") show a weak response to a continuous tactile stimulus, and a strong and persistent response to noxious heat. Additionally, headless cockroaches, or those with the neck connective severed, lack a full nocifensive response (Emanuel and Libersat, 2019; Rana et al., 2022). The local nerve cord pathway in the body ganglia could only coordinate a startle reflex, not an escape run, suggesting a role for the central complex (Emanuel and Libersat, 2019). In a follow-up study, central complex neurons were deactivated via chemical injection. Suppressing the central complex's neuronal response significantly reduces nocifensive responses, despite nerve cord interneurons still conveying nociceptive signals to the brain. These data suggest that ascending pathways integrate nociceptive information in the central complex to coordinate full, nocifensive motor responses (Rana et al., 2022).

In the adult fruit fly, numerous distinct cell populations convey context-dependent nociceptive signals to the protocerebrum, using direct and indirect pathways. For example, multidendritic neurons in the abdomen project to the ventral nerve cord (and indirectly to the brain; Tsubouchi et al., 2017), while heat-responsive ppk + neurons in the legs project both to the ventral nerve cord and directly to the brain. Similar to the *P. americana* cockroaches, in headless fruit flies, a full escape response to nociceptive thermal stimulation requires the head ganglia (Khuong et al., 2019).

Integrative brain regions are required for both innate and conditioned responses of adult fruit flies to noxious stimuli, indicating that there are connections between the nociceptors and these particular regions. For example, neurons in the fan-shaped body of the central complex respond to electric shock, and are required for innate avoidance of electric shock and noxious heat (Hu et al., 2018). Innate responses to shock or heat may also involve the lateral horn, suboesophageal ganglion, and/or the protocerebral bridge in the central complex (Ohashi and Sakai, 2018; Xu et al., 2006). Therefore, the central complex, and possibly the lateral horn, are neurally connected to the nociceptors.

Conditioned responses provide more evidence for connections between the nociceptors and the integrative brain regions in adult fruit flies. Whenever another sensory stimulus (e.g., an odour) is paired with a noxious stimulus for learning, sensory integration must occur—indicating that an integrative brain region must be connected to the nociceptors. Multiple studies have supported a role for the mushroom bodies in memory formation in nociception-odour association contexts (Aso et al., 2012; Galili et al., 2014; Owald et al., 2015). Unique neural pathways regulating conditioned responses to both shock and heat were found to converge on a subset of dopaminergic neurons in the mushroom bodies (Galili et al., 2014, Aso et al., 2012), that connect directly to anterior cells in the superior protocerebrum. The anterior cells may be part of the neural pathway connecting the nociceptors to the mushroom bodies.

Both the mushroom body lobes and central complex may be responsible for integrating nociceptive signals in several different orders, as dopaminergic neurons are known to innervate these regions in both adult flies and cockroaches (Riemensperger et al., 2005; Hamanaka et al., 2016). Neurons in the fan-shaped body of the fruit fly central complex are activated in odour-shock learning (possibly as direct downstream targets of mushroom body output neurons; Li et al., 2020a; Hu et al., 2018). Although the ascending pathways to these regions have not been elucidated, conditioned responses to noxious stimuli demonstrate that the mushroom bodies and central complex are indirectly connected to the nociceptors.

In third instar fruit fly larvae, one nociceptive circuit leading to the brain has been particularly well described (Ohyama et al., 2015). In response to thermogenetic activation of TRPA1 in class IV multidendritic neurons, these neurons activate Basin interneurons. Basins then connect with A00c neurons, which project to the brain and synapse onto third-order interneurons, ipsiphone and contraphone. These third-order brain interneurons receive multisensory input from (minimally) mechanical and nociceptive sensory streams. Ispsiphone and contraphone connect with other brain neurons that send descending axons to Goro, exerting descending control over the rolling behaviour. Silencing the A00c interneurons (thus inactivating the brain pathway synapsing onto Goro, but leaving the local ventral nerve cord pathway to Goro intact) reduced rolling in response to bimodal stimuli. Thus, while rolling can be modulated by the ventral nerve cord pathway alone, the ascending brain pathway is essential for multisensory integration and the effect of multiple streams of sensory information on larval fruit fly rolling behaviour (Ohyama et al., 2015). This pathway shows that multisensory information is integrated in the brain (though specific roles for the brain regions described in Criterion 2 are not mentioned).

Other connections between nociceptors and the brain have also been reported in third instar fruit fly larvae (e.g., as mediated by A08 neurons: Hu et al., 2017; Vogelstein et al., 2014). These connections can be specific to multisensory contexts. The axons of Class IV multidendritic neurons (and other sensory neurons) connect with Dorsal pair insulin-like-peptide 7-producing (DP-ilp7) neurons in the ventral nerve cord. The axons of these modulatory neurons then project to the brain. Multiple sensory streams were shown to converge onto DP-ilp7 neurons, which facilitate mechanonociceptive (but not thermonociceptive) behaviours (Hu et al., 2017). Exploring nocifensive responses in new contexts will yield better information about the brain regions that may be involved in controlling nocifensive behaviours (Eschbach and Zlatic, 2020). Further, as third instar fruit fly larvae are capable of shock-odour associative learning, they must have ascending nociceptive pathways to an integrative brain region (most likely, the mushroom bodies) (Pauls et al., 2010). While it is clear that third instar larvae have connections between the nociceptors and the brain, it has not been directly tested which integrative brain regions outlined in Criterion 2 are involved in each nociceptive context and exactly how the nociceptive sensory information reaches the brain.

Most studies on the pathways from the nociceptors to the fruit fly larval brain have focused on third instar nocifensive rolling behaviour. However, first and second instar larvae do not perform this behaviour, although general avoidance of noxious stimuli still occurs (Sulkowski et al., 2011). This difference in behaviour, and the continuous development of the brain during the juvenile period (reviewed in Criterion 2), suggests that information about ascending nociceptive pathways in the third instar should not be applied to the first instar in fruit flies without further studies elucidating the neural mechanism underlying these differences in nocifensive motor response. We are not aware of any direct evidence of connections between the nociceptors and brain regions in first instar fruit fly larvae. In fifth instar *M. sexta* moth larvae, nociceptive sensory neurons project their axons somatotopically to the body ganglia. This axonal organisation allows for site-specific nociceptive striking responses (Caron et al., 2020; Mukherjee and Trimmer, 2020; Tabuena et al., 2017; Walters et al., 2001). Unfortunately, no studies have determined the pathways from these axonal projections to integrative brain centres. However, long presensitization response latencies to noxious stimuli suggest the head ganglia are involved. This is because local interneuron (e.g., ventral nerve cord only) responses would occur with much shorter latencies, such as those seen in the quick motor neuron reflex response (Mukherjee and Trimmer, 2020).

Shock-odour training of third instar *M. sexta* moth larvae resulted in associative learning that lasted through larval development, suggesting there are neural pathways connecting nociceptive neurons and the mushroom bodies (which develops throughout juvenile development in juvenile Lepidoptera; Criterion 2). While both third and fifth instar larvae learned the association, only training at the fifth instar resulted in memory through metamorphosis (Blackiston et al., 2008). This suggests that the earlier development of certain mushroom body lobes may allow for third instar associative learning, while the presumably later development of other mushroom body lobes (e.g., α'/β' , which develop late in fruit fly larval development and persist through metamorphosis: Lee et al., 1999) may be responsible for memory retention after pupation. Specific pathways connecting the mushroom bodies and the nociceptive sensory neurons have not yet been explored and more data on the developmental timing of the different mushroom body lobes in Lepidoptera is needed to confirm this hypothesis.

In summary, we have **very high confidence** of integrated nociception in **adult Diptera** and **Blattodea**. Due to similarities in the nervous system of hemimetabolous insects across development, we also have high confidence in **juvenile Blattodea**. In last instar **juvenile Diptera**, there is evidence of multisensory input to the brain. However, connections to the integrative brain regions outlined in Criterion 2 have not been described. Therefore, we have medium confidence that they fulfil this criterion. In last instar **juvenile Lepidoptera**, there is evidence that the cerebral ganglia are involved in nociceptive responses, and they can form memories of nociceptive shock-odour pairs. Neural pathways probably connect nociceptors to higher order brain regions in the later instars, but no direct evidence of these pathways exists. Thus, we have low confidence that last instars meet this criterion, as the circuits to the brain have not yet been elucidated.

 Table 4
 Confidence levels for criterion 3 (integrated nociception). By default, information in the right column is for first instars. Where published information on later instars exists, cells are split: left: first instar; right: last instar.

Insect order	Adult	Juvenile
Blattodea	VH	н
Coleoptera	VL (no research found)	VL (no research found)
Diptera	VH	VL (no research M found)
Hymenoptera	VL (no research found)	VL (no research found)
Lepidoptera	VL (no research found)	VL (no research L found)
Orthoptera	VL (no research found)	VL (no research found)

VH=Very high; H=High; M=Medium; L=Low; VL (no research found)=Very low (no research found). When cells are split for juveniles, left cell indicates the first instar and right cell indicates the last instar.

For adult and first instar juvenile Lepidoptera, and adult and juvenile Coleoptera, Hymenoptera, and Orthoptera, and first instar juvenile Diptera, we have very low confidence due to a total absence of evidence (Table 4).

3.4 Criterion 4: Analgesia

The animal's behavioural response to a noxious stimulus is modulated by chemical compounds affecting the nervous system in either or both of the following ways:

(a) The animal possesses an endogenous neurotransmitter system that modulates (in a way consistent with the experience of pain, distress or harm) their responses to threatened or actual noxious stimuli.

An endogenous neurotransmitter system that modulates responses to noxious stimuli suggests the animal may have mechanisms to reduce pain (not simply nociception). Neural, behavioral or pharmacological evidence may indicate such a system (Gibbons et al., 2022a). In fruit flies, multiple neurotransmitters appear to regulate nociceptive responses. The inhibitory neurotransmitter GABA (important in the mammalian endogenous pain system: Jasmin et al., 2003) modulates noxious heat responses in fruit flies. When given a GABA receptor agonist, fruit flies are more likely to cross a noxious heat barrier to reach an appetitive light (Manev and Dimitrijevic, 2004). A nerve injury study demonstrated that GABAergic neurons in the ventral nerve cord modulate the nociceptive heat responses of *ppk* + nociceptive neurons (Khuong et al., 2019). Peripheral injury results in GABAergic neuron death and thus a loss of GABAergic inhibition, causing persistent thermal allodynia and nociceptive hypervigilance. Experiments suppressing GABAergic cell death and knocking down GABA receptors confirm that the loss of GABAergic inhibition was responsible for reducing the heat avoidance threshold (Khuong et al., 2019).

Ohashi and Sakai (2018) found that food deprivation reduced jump reflex frequency in response to noxious heat and that this modulation was likely mediated by leucokinin signalling. Leucokinins are a family of neuropeptides that, among other roles, mediate feeding behaviour in flies (Nässel, 2021). Silencing the leucokinin neurons rescues the response to noxious heat in food-deprived flies. Further, this modulation of the nociceptive reflex does not occur in decapitated flies, suggesting the head ganglia are involved. Leucokinin neurons exist in both the lateral horn and the suboesophageal ganglion; increased lateral horn leucokinin secretion likely mediates the effect of food deprivation on nocifensive response. Finally, allatostatin-C is the insect orthologue of the neuropeptide somatostatin (involved in the endogenous pain system in mammals: Kecskés et al., 2020). Knockout of allatostatin-C receptors causes insects to escape noxious heat more quickly (Bachtel et al., 2018), suggesting that allatostatin-C may suppress nociceptive responses. These findings suggest that adult fruit flies have an endogenous neurotransmitter system that may regulate responses to noxious stimuli.

Pharmacological studies also indicate that such endogenous modulatory systems may exist in insects. In adult *P. americana* cockroaches, nocifensive escape responses are inhibited following a sting to the brain by the parasitic Jewel wasp (*Ampulex compessa*; Hymenoptera: Ampulicidae; see Fig. 3). The venom also increases the startle threshold in response to electric shocks (Gavra and Libersat, 2011; Jasmin et al., 2003). A neurotrimin/ opioid-binding protein/cell adhesion molecule is one component in the wasp venom (Kaiser et al., 2019). Injecting opioid antagonists before a sting rescues the cockroaches' startle threshold, while an opioid agonist mimics the sting's effect on startle threshold (Emanuel and Libersat, 2019), suggesting that an endogenous neurotransmitter system exists in cockroaches. Similarly, in *A. mellifera* bees, injection of isopentyl acetate



Fig. 3 A jewel wasp (*Ampulex compressa*) attacks a *Periplaneta americana* cockroach by stinging the thorax and the head. The cockroach is subsequently consumed alive by the wasp's larva inside a dedicated borrow. Unlike other parasitoids, these wasps do not fully paralyse their prey – the cockroach can still walk (albeit only under the guidance of the wasp), but loses all self-initiated behaviour. In addition, the venom increases the cockroach's threshold to noxious stimuli, thus potentially activating an endogenous neurotransmitter system for dampening nociception.

(from the bee alarm pheromone) increases their stinging response threshold to an electric shock. Injecting an opioid antagonist returned the threshold to normal (Núñez et al., 1997). This suggests that isopentyl acetate activated an endogenous neurotransmitter system, which opioid antagonists can reduce.

However, the above pharmacological data are difficult to explain in light of recent genetic studies revealing that insects do not have genes for opioid receptors or proneuropeptides (Elphick et al., 2018; Jékely, 2013; Kreienkamp et al., 2002). A genomic analysis confirmed that the opioid system likely emerged and diversified in early vertebrates (Mirabeau and Joly, 2013). When the fruit fly genome was screened for mammalian opioid receptor genes, the sequences with the highest similarity were allatostatin-C receptors (Kreienkamp et al., 2002). Many historic studies appeared to have demonstrated the presence of opioid peptides and binding sites (e.g., Davenport and Evans, 1986; Duve and Thorpe, 1983; Santoro et al., 1990), based on immunocytochemistry, high-pressure liquid chromatography, and opioid receptor binding assays. However, in light of the new genomic evidence, the accuracy or interpretation of these studies is now unclear. It is thus unknown how the above-mentioned opioid agonist and antagonists work in insects. It is possible that opioids bind to a receptor for another peptide (with no sequence homology to opioids) in insects, and thus function as an agonist. Further research will be needed to elucidate the mechanisms underlying the nociceptive modulation induced by these neuropeptides.

Finally, in fruit fly larvae, there also appears to be an endogenous neurotransmitter system modulating nociception. Oikawa et al. (2022) found that Drosulfakinin (DSK)-knockout third instar larvae had reduced rolling latencies in response to noxious heat; the same response occurred with DSK-receptor knockouts. DSK is a homologue of mammalian cholecystokinin, which plays a role in the descending control of nociception. Similarly, the axons of larval DSK neurons descend from the brain to the ventral nerve cord, where DSK receptor activation in ventral nerve cord interneurons mediates nocifensive behaviour. In another study, ectopic expression of neuropeptide F (another mammalian neuropeptide: Diaz-delCastillo et al., 2018) receptors in *painless*-expressing neurons suppressed third instar larval nocifensive rolling, potentially implicating neuropeptide F in the inhibitory modulation of nociception.

(b) Putative local anaesthetics, analgesics (such as opioids), anxiolytics or anti-depressants modify an animal's responses to threatened or actual noxious stimuli in a way consistent with the hypothesis that these compounds attenuate the experience of pain, distress or harm.

A putative local anaesthetic/analgesic should reduce nocifensive behaviour. In *A. mellifera* bees, consumption of ethanol (which can act as an analgesic in humans: Perrino Jr. et al., 2008) dose-dependently increases the electric shock threshold of the sting extension response (Giannoni-Guzmán et al., 2014). Ethanol also increases the time spent in an area where bees received electric shocks, and delays the bees' learning to avoid the area (also dose-dependent: Black et al., 2021; Giannoni-Guzmán et al., 2014). However, ethanol impairs bee learning of sucrose-odour pairs (Abramson et al., 2000), so delays in avoidance learning may not be due to ethanol's putative analgesic effect.

As described in the previous section, insects do not have opioid receptors. Strangely, however, many opioids have seemingly analgesic effects (see Table 5), possibly by binding to a different receptor. For example, morphine reduces stinging response to electric shocks in *A. mellifera* bees (Núñez et al., 1983) and increases noxious-heat escape latency in *P. americana* cockroaches (Gritsaĭ et al., 2004) and *Pteronemobius sp.* (Orthoptera: Gryllidae) crickets (Zabala and Gómez, 1991). Various opioid peptides (which can occur naturally in the body or be absorbed from food) also seem to have analgesic effects. β -casomorphins and rubiscolin (both antinociceptive in mammals: Liu and Udenigwe, 2019) increase the duration that

Insect order	Drug/ peptide used	Species	Method of application	Location of application	Volume used (µl)	$\sim \mu g/g$ used	Effect	References
Blattodea	Morphine (?)	Periplaneta Injectio americana	Injection	Anterior chest wall between the bases of forelimbs.	2, 5 and 10	50	No effect	Gritsaĭ
						200	Antinociceptive	et al. (2004)
						300	Antinociceptive	(2001)
	Morphine-HCl	Periplaneta	Injection	Thorax	15	0.56	No effect	Weiss and
		americana				56	Antinociceptive	Penzlin (1987)
	Heptapeptide	Periplaneta	Injection	Anterior chest wall between	2, 5 and	200	Antinociceptive	Gritsaĭ
	β-casomorphine-7	americana		the bases of forelimbs.	10	300	Antinociceptive	et al. (2004)
						500	Antinociceptive	(2001)
	Pentapeptide β-casomorphine-5 shortened from the C end	Periplaneta Injection americana	Injection	Anterior chest wall between the bases of forelimbs.	2, 5 and 10	200	Antinociceptive	Gritsaĭ et al. (2004)
						300	Antinociceptive	
					500	Antinociceptive	(2004)	
	Hexapeptide β-casomorphine-6 shortened from the N end hexapeptide	Periplaneta americana	Injection	Anterior chest wall between the bases of forelimbs.	2, 5 and 10	500	No effect	Gritsaĭ et al. (2004)

 Table 5
 The effects of opioid agonists on nocifensive behaviour in the focal insect orders.

Continued

Insect order	Drug/ peptide used	Species	Method of application	Location of application	Volume used (µl)	$\sim \mu g/g$ used	Effect	References
	β-casomorphine-7	casomorphine-7 Periplaneta	Injection	Between the bases of the	1-5	50	Antinociceptive	Gritsaĭ
		americana		forelegs		100	Antinociceptive	et al. (2000)
						200	Antinociceptive	~ /
	Rubiscolin-5	Periplaneta	Injection	Front segment of the chest	5	300	Antinociceptive	Gritsaĭ
		americana		between the front leg bases		500	Antinociceptive	et al. (2008)
	Met-enkephalin	Periplaneta	Injection	Anterior thorax segment	5 or 10	300	No effect	Gritsaĭ
		americana		between the bases of the insect forelegs.		500	Antinociceptive	et al. (2009)
	Dinorphin A	Periplaneta	Injection	Anterior thorax segment	5 or 10	250	Antinociceptive	Gritsaĭ et al. (2009)
		americana		between the bases of the insect forelegs.		500	Antinociceptive	
	Exorphine C	Periplaneta	Injection	Anterior thorax segment	5 or 10	300	No effect	Gritsaĭ
		<i>americana</i> between the base insect forelegs.	between the bases of the insect forelegs.		500	Antinociceptive	et al. (2009)	
	Cytochrophin- 4	PeriplanetaInjectionAnterior thorax segmentamericanabetween the bases of the insect forelegs.	cophin- 4 Periplaneta Injection Anterior thorax segment 5 or	5 or 10	300	No effect	Gritsaĭ	
			between the bases of the insect forelegs.		500	No effect	et al. (2009)	
	B-neoendorphin	3-neoendorphin Periplaneta Injection	Injection	Anterior thorax segment	5 or 10	250	No effect	Gritsaĭ
		americana		between the bases of the insect forelegs.		500	No effect	et al. (2009)

 Table 5
 The effects of opioid agonists on nocifensive behaviour in the focal insect orders.—cont'd

Hymeoptera	Met-enkephalin	Apis mellifera	Injection	Membrane lying between sternal area of the mesothorax and the coxa of the left middle leg	2	1912.16	No effect	Núñez et al. (1983) Núñez et al. (1983)
	Leu-enkephalin	Apis mellifera	Injection	Membrane lying between sternal area of the mesothorax and the coxa of the left middle leg	2	1852	No effect	
	[D-Ala2}-Met- enkephalinamide	Apis mellifera	Injection	Membrane lying between sternal area of the mesothorax and the coxa of the left middle leg	2	1954.16	No effect	Núñez et al. (1983)
	Morphine-HCl	Morphine-HCl <i>Apis mellifera</i> Injection	Injection	on Membrane lying between sternal area of the mesothorax and the coxa of the left middle leg	2	187.9	Antinociceptive	Núñez et al. (1983)
						927	Antinociceptive	
						375.8	Antinociceptive	
						751.6	Antinociceptive	
Orthoptera	Morphine-HCl	lorphine-HCl Pteronemobius Ir sp.	Injection	Abdominal haemolymph	10	320	Antinociceptive	Zabala and Gómez (1991)
						500	Antinociceptive	
						520	Antinociceptive	
						690	Antinociceptive	
						1005	Antinociceptive	

P. americana cockroaches stay in a noxiously-heated box (Gritsaĭ et al., 2000, 2004, 2008). Other opioid peptides also increase noxious heat tolerance in the *P. americana* cockroach (Gritsaĭ et al., 2008; Gritsaĭ et al., 2009, Table 5). Oddly, injecting *A. mellifera* bees with some of the same opioid peptides does not affect their response to electric shock (Núñez et al., 1983). It is unclear why these peptides differ in their effects across these orders or contexts (Table 5).

A common experimental flaw in most of the analgesic studies reviewed here is the failure to control for reduction of locomotion and general responsiveness, which may explain a specific reduction in nocifensive behaviour. Another potential confound occurred in studies that required memory in order to measure nocifensive response, as analgesics often reduce learning and memory performance (Izquierdo et al., 1980). Future studies should use paradigms that do not rely on learning or reduced movement.

Besides analgesics and anaesthetics, many drugs have antidepressant and anxiolytic effects in insects (this is not evidence of pain, but of aversive subjective states more broadly). One method used to measure "depression-like" behaviour in fruit flies is the forced-swim test. Flies are placed in a well of harmless liquid (sodium dodecyl sulphate) and the time taken for them to stop moving is recorded (Neckameyer and Nieto-Romero, 2015). This immobility is considered depression-like, because it may indicate resignation to 'hopeless' conditions (Porsolt et al., 1977). Under this paradigm, vertebrate antidepressants (psilocybin: Carhart-Harris et al., 2017; citalopram: Jiao et al., 2011) increases the time-to-immobility in a fly strain prone to rapid immobility (Hibicke and Nichols, 2022). Flies can also be subjected to multiple stressors (cold stress, starvation, heat stress and sleep deprivation) to induce immobility in the forced swim test (Araujo et al., 2018). Using this model, Araujo et al. (2021) discovered that γ -oryzanol, a putative antidepressant in vertebrates (Mehdi et al., 2015), increases time-to-immobility and decreases aggressive behaviour. This, and other findings, point to antidepressants reducing depression-like behaviours in fruit flies.

Fruit flies also display an "anxiety-like" state under a variety of stressful conditions, resulting in a preference for dark areas or arena edges, which provide more perceived protection (Neckameyer and Nieto-Romero, 2015). γ -oryzanol, a vertebrate anxiolytic, reduced light avoidance behaviour in flies (Araujo et al., 2021). However, other anxiolytics, diazepam and fluoxetine, did not affect this behaviour (Ramos-Hryb et al., 2021). Thus, more research is needed into anxiolytics and anxiety-like states in fruit flies.

In summary, we consider the highest confidence level for either a) or b) in an insect order as the overall confidence level for the criterion of analgesia. Multiple studies on **adult** and **juvenile Diptera** indicate an endogenous nociceptive neurotransmitter system. Some studies have identified the neurotransmitters involved, and revealed which analgesic drugs work on them. Further, there is some evidence for antidepressants and anxiolytics affecting adult fruit flies. Thus, we have very high confidence they fulfil this criterion. In **adult Blattodea**, there is good evidence from multiple studies for a neurotransmitter system and/or reduced nociceptive responses after analgesic administration; we have high confidence that they fulfil the criterion.

In adult Hymenoptera, one study indicates a neurotransmitter system for nociception, and there is some evidence for possible analgesics, but these studies have locomotion and learning confounds. Thus, we have medium confidence that they fulfil this criterion. In adult Orthoptera, morphine agonists affect nociceptive behaviours, but confounds again weaken this evidence, only giving us low confidence. There is no research into endogenous neurotransmitter systems, local anaesthetics or analgesic drugs in adult Coleoptera and Lepidoptera, or juvenile Blattodea, Coleoptera, Hymenoptera, Lepidoptera and Orthoptera. Therefore, due to an absence of evidence, we have very low confidence for these developmental stages (Table 6).

Insect order	Adult	Juvenile
Blattodea	н	VL (no research found)
Coleoptera	VL (no research found)	VL (no research found)
Diptera	VH	VH
Hymenoptera	М	VL (no research found)
Lepidoptera	VL (no research found)	VL (no research found)
Orthoptera	L	VL (no research found)

 Table 6
 Confidence levels for criterion 4 (analgesia). Information in right column is for first instars.

VH=Very high; H=High; M=Medium; L=Low; VL (no research found)=Very low (no research found).

3.5 Criterion 5: Motivational trade-offs

The animal shows motivational trade-offs, in which the negative value of a noxious or threatening stimulus is weighed (traded-off) against the positive value of an opportunity for reward, leading to flexible decision-making. Enough flexibility must be shown to indicate centralised, integrative processing of information involving a common measure of value

Nociceptive motivational trade-offs occur when a competing motivation (e.g., acquiring food) modulates a nociceptive response (Fields, 2006; Navratilova and Porreca, 2014). Such trade-offs may indicate pain, because they show that the nociceptive processing is flexible, context-dependent, and occurs in the brain (Appel and Elwood, 2009; Elwood and Appel, 2009; Millsopp and Laming, 2008). A common argument against pain in invertebrates is that they only respond to injury reflexively (Eisemann et al., 1984). However, if the animal trades off a nociceptive response against competing motivational requirements, the behaviour cannot be a simple reflex.

D. melanogaster fruit flies display some evidence for nociceptive motivational trade-offs. Only flies with nociceptive genes knocked out would cross a 60 °C noxious-heat barrier to reach an attractive light source (Aldrich et al., 2010; Benzer, 1967). Using the same paradigm but with a 42 °C barrier, Maney and Dimitrijevic (2004) found that only 27.5% of wild-type flies would cross at 42 °C (see also Aldrich et al., 2010). While these results may indicate a motivational trade-off, the authors did not confirm that the 42 °C barrier was noxious for the entire population outside the motivational-light context. Interindividual variation in the activation temperature of noxious heat receptors could thus also be responsible for a subset of wild-type flies crossing the barrier at 42 °C. If these individuals were not perceiving the stimuli as nociceptive, then there was no motivational trade-off. Another problem with this fruit fly study is that it does not provide evidence that satisfies this criterion's requirement for "centralised, integrative processing of information involving a common measure of value". When both competing stimuli are experienced simultaneously, the two sensory inputs may interact via simple neural mechanisms without involving centralised integration (as demonstrated in the nematode *Caenorhabditis* elegans [Rhabditida: Rhabditidae]: Ghosh et al., 2016, 2017; Irvine, 2020; Shinkai et al., 2011).

In a more complex study, adult fruit flies were conditioned to associate an odour with an appetitive stimulus (ethanol or sucrose). They were then presented with the odour, which they could only reach by crossing a novel,
electrified barrier. Untrained flies would not cross the barrier at 100V, demonstrating the shocks were noxious (other studies have shown that flies avoid 30V shocks: Hu et al., 2018). Conditioned flies would cross the 100V barrier to reach odours associated with ethanol or sucrose, but only ethanol-conditioned flies would cross a 120V barrier (Kaun et al., 2011). To better determine how flexible this trade-off is, future studies could vary the sucrose or ethanol concentrations. Nonetheless, this study demonstrates a nociceptive motivational trade-off in fruit flies that varies in a context-dependent manner.

More flexible trade-offs provide better evidence for pain. In a study on large earth bumblebees (Bombus terrestris; Hymenoptera: Apidae), Gibbons et al. (2022b) demonstrated a nociceptive motivational trade-off that did not require direct sensory input from the competing stimuli, relying instead on memory. Bees could choose to feed from either noxiously-heated (55 °C) feeders with 40% sucrose solution, or alternative unheated feeders with 10%, 20%, 30%, or 40% (equal) sucrose concentrations (see Fig. 4). These feeders were marked with different colours and spatial locations, and bees learned the feeder contents and temperature based on these cues. When every feeder contained 40% sucrose solution, bees avoided the heated feeders and preferred the unheated feeders. However, when the unheated feeders contained lower sucrose concentrations, bees showed a significant reduction in avoidance of the heated feeders. This occurred despite the bees not directly perceiving either the heat or sucrose when making the tradeoff-they relied on conditioned stimuli. Additionally, bees persisted in these behaviours when the feeders did not contain sucrose and were not heated (Gibbons et al., 2022b, unpublished data: Fig. 4 [Memory test data]). Thus, bees trade off nociceptive heat avoidance against their preference for sucrose, based solely on memory.

Future research should seek to identify the neural mechanisms that underpin such trade-offs. It is unclear if simple mechanisms (e.g., in the ventral nerve cord) mediate trade-offs involving the simultaneous presentation of competing stimuli (as in *C. elegans*), while more complex trade-offs may require integrative brain regions. In summary, **adult Diptera** and **Hymenoptera** display complex motivational trade-offs, using conditioned stimuli as the motivational stimuli, thereby meeting the criterion with high confidence. For **adult Blattodea**, **Coleoptera**, **Lepidoptera**, and **Orthoptera**, and **all insect orders at the juvenile stage**, there is no research into trade-off behaviours, and we have very low confidence that they fulfil this criterion (Table 7).



Fig. 4 A nociceptive motivational trade-off based on memory in *Bombus terrestris* bees, where bees have to weigh the benefits of a rewarding food source against the experience of noxious heat. The bars show both the proportion of feedings events at each feeder type in two different conditions: "Unconditioned stimuli present" (data from Gibbons et al., 2022b), and a subsequent "Memory test" with neither heat or rewards present. (A) When there are two feeders both with 40% sucrose solution, bees feed more at the *unheated* feeder (and subsequently remember the feeders' nutritious and noxious properties). (B) When there is one feeder with 10% and one with 40% sucrose solution, there are higher proportions of feeding events at the *heated* feeder associated with 40% sucrose solution (and this preference persists into a subsequent memory test without heat or reward present). This demonstrates a motivational trade-off between sucrose solution concentration and noxious heat that is based on a memory of the colour and spatial cues.

 Table 7 Confidence levels for criterion 5 (motivational trade-offs). Information in the right column is for first instars.

Insect order	Adult	Juvenile
Blattodea	VL (no research found)	VL (no research found)
Coleoptera	VL (no research found)	VL (no research found)
Diptera	н	VL (no research found)
Hymenoptera	н	VL (no research found)
Lepidoptera	VL (no research found)	VL (no research found)
Orthoptera	VL (no research found)	VL (no research found)

H=High; VL (no research found)=Very low (no research found).

3.6 Criterion 6: Flexible self-protection

The animal shows flexible self-protective behaviour (*e.g.*, wound tending, guarding, grooming, rubbing) of a type likely to involve representing the bodily location of a noxious stimulus

Good evidence for this criterion would be self-protective behaviour targeted at the bodily location of noxious stimulation. Such protective behaviours are used to identify pain in mammals (see Fig. 5A) and non-verbal human patients. For example, the Checklist of Nonverbal Pain



Fig. 5 A self-protective behaviour (wound tending) in a mammal and an insect. Both use their mouth to tend to their wound directly, demonstrating awareness of the site of injury. (A) A dog licking their wound. (B) A *Manduca sexta* larva tending to their wound using their mouthparts.

Indicators includes massaging or clutching the affected area (in humans: Feldt, 2000). Self-protective behaviours suggest animals are aware of the injury location and motivated to protect themselves from further harm (Elwood, 2011). While self-grooming is a common behaviour in insects (e.g., in fruit flies, *B. germanica* cockroaches, and *A. mellifera* bees: El-Awami and Dent, 1995; Ringo, 2020; Russo et al., 2020), very few studies have investigated whether insects groom, rub, or guard a specific site of noxious stimulation.

Eisemann et al. (1984) and Wigglesworth (1980) listed several anecdotal accounts of injured insects not obviously performing protective behaviour. For example, an insect with a crushed tarsus appeared to continue walking on it with the same force (Eisemann et al., 1984). However, the paper provided no experimental evidence for this behavioural observation (e.g., measuring the force applied by the leg compared to control insects), so this cannot count as evidence against self-protective behaviour. In any case, absence of evidence in specific contexts, and where pain behaviours may be supressed, is not evidence of absence in other contexts (Gibbons and Sarlak, 2020).

Walters et al. (2001) reported anecdotal evidence of wound tending behaviour in last instar *M. sexta* moth larvae. When pinching the abdominal prolegs produced a visible wound, the larvae positioned their heads close to the wound and repeatedly touched the area with their open mouthparts (see Fig. 5B; Walters et al., 2001). This behaviour was aimed specifically at the pinched proleg. The larvae also increased their defensive response (rapidly bending the head towards the noxiously-stimulated site), even in response to non-noxious touch. This behavioural response may suggest they were guarding the site against further injury (Walters et al., 2001). In addition, *P. americana* cockroaches that receive an abdominal puncture wound will groom more, and non-quantified observations of grooming the site of the wound have been reported (Hentschel and Penzlin, 1982).

Although not a self-directed behaviour, healthy ants (*Megaponera analis;* Hymenoptera: Formicidae) tend to the wounds of other colony members after raids on termite colonies (see Fig. 6) (Frank et al., 2017). Injured workers release a 'help' pheromone that attracts healthy colony members, who investigate their wounds (typically lost limbs) and carry them back to the nest. In the nest, ants may work together to remove the termites clinging to the injured worker. Helpers then intensely groom the injury site, sometimes for several minutes. This allogrooming behaviour increased survival of injured ants in an unsterile environment by 70%. However, to our knowledge, the ants have not been observed tending to their own wounds.

I) Ant gets injured by termite bites

II) Injured ant picked up by another ant

Fig. 6 Wound tending behaviour from conspecifics in *Megaponera analis* ants. (I) Firstly, the ant is injured by a termite. This ant signals to the colony mates by changing the way she walks to indicate injury. (II) The colony mate will then pick up the injured ant. (III) The colony mate will groom the injury site directly.

In summary, there is evidence for wound-specific grooming in last instar **juvenile Lepidoptera** and **adult Blattodea**, but only one study in each case. Thus, we have high confidence that these orders fulfil the criterion. There is no research on site-directed, self-protective behaviour in **juvenile Blattodea**, **adult** or first instar **juvenile Lepidoptera**, and **adults** or **juvenile Coleoptera**, **Diptera**, **Hymenoptera**, or **Orthoptera**, so we have very low confidence they fulfil this criterion (Table 8).

Table 8 Confidence levels for criterion 6 (self-protective behaviour). By default,information in the right column is for first instars. Where published information aboutlater instars exists, cells are split; left: first instar; right: last instar.

Insect order	Adult	Juvenile
Blattodea	н	VL (no research found)
Coleoptera	VL (no research found)	VL (no research found)
Diptera	VL (no research found)	VL (no research found)
Hymenoptera	VL (no research found)	VL (no research found)
Lepidoptera	VL (no research found)	VL (no research H found)
Orthoptera	VL (no research found)	VL (no research found)

H = High; VL (no research found) = Very low (no research found). When cells are split for juveniles, left cell indicates the first instar and right cell indicates the last instar.

III) Injured ant receiving treatment

3.7 Criterion 7: Associative learning

The animal shows associative learning in which noxious stimuli become associated with neutral stimuli, or in which novel ways of avoiding noxious stimuli are learned through reinforcement

Learning from aversive experiences allows an animal to avoid these experiences in the future. Although not a compelling demonstration of sentience on its own, such learning goes over and above reflex-like responses to noxious stimuli. There is ongoing debate about which forms of associative learning are linked to sentience and conscious awareness (Ginsburg and Jablonka, 2019) with particularly intense recent interest in certain forms of instrumental conditioning (Skora et al., 2021), reversal learning (Travers et al., 2018), and trace conditioning (Droege et al., 2021). To leave room for this debate, without taking a stance, we review both classical conditioning and more complex forms of learning, which may provide stronger evidence for sentience. There is a robust literature (reviewed in Giurfa, 2015) on insect associative learning using appetitive (e.g., sucrose) or non-nociceptive aversive stimuli (e.g., quinine). However, only learning that involves noxious stimuli, such as shocks or very high temperatures, can fulfil this criterion, given its intended link to pain.

Classical conditioning in response to noxious stimuli has been demonstrated in several insect orders. Adult fruit flies sequentially exposed to two odours, and receiving twelve shocks during the first odour, avoided that odour in a subsequent T-maze test 95% of the time. Flies learned associations after just one trial and retained the association for at least 24h (Tully and Quinn, 1985; Quinn et al., 1974). There is also evidence for classical conditioning in response to noxious shock or heat stimuli in adult Hymenoptera (e.g., A. mellifera bees: Abramson, 1986; Nouvian and Galizia, 2019; Roussel et al., 2012; Vergoz et al., 2007; Junca and Sandoz, 2015; and Camponotus aethiops (Hymenoptera: Formicidae) carpenter ants: Desmedt et al., 2017) and adult Lepidoptera (e.g., Agrotis ipsilon [Lepidoptera: Noctuidae] black cutworm moths: Murmu et al., 2020). Further evidence for classical conditioning is found in juvenile Diptera (e.g., third instar fruit fly larvae: Aceves-Piña and Quinn, 1979; Khurana et al., 2012) and juvenile Lepidoptera (e.g., M. sexta moth and Grapholita molesta [Lepidoptera: Tortricidae] oriental fruit moth larvae). In M. sexta and G. molesta moth larvae, the noxious associative memories formed during the last larval instar may persist into adulthood (Blackiston et al., 2008; Sant'Ana et al., 2021).

Operant conditioning is also widespread in insects. Historically, authors have reported that adult fruit flies readily learn operant responses in noxious heat paradigms (Brembs, 2003; Putz and Heisenberg, 2002; Wustmann et al., 1996). However, flies learn predictive cues (i.e., classical conditioning) preferentially over operant conditioning (Brembs, 2009; Brembs and Plendl, 2008). Operant paradigms must, therefore, avoid any predictive cues (Wiggin et al., 2021). In studies that avoid predictive cues, fruit flies still learn to avoid visual landmarks associated with noxious heat (Brembs, 2011; Brembs and Heisenberg, 2000; Heisenberg et al., 2001). *P. americana* cockroaches and *A. mellifera* bees also readily learn operant responses, for example avoiding a location where they receive noxious electric shocks (Barraco et al., 1981; Abramson et al., 2004). *S. americana* grasshoppers learn to remove their leg from a salt solution where they receive an electric shock (Punzo, 1980), and to move their leg to avoid noxious heat stimulation to their head (Forman, 1984).

Some older studies have been taken as evidence that operant responses to noxious stimuli may not require a brain in insects. Horridge (1962) found that headless Periplaneta sp. cockroaches and L. migratoria locusts could 'learn' a leg position to avoid receiving an electric shock (later replicated in fruit flies; Booker and Quinn, 1981). The headless insects retracted their legs more frequently and for longer durations than "yoked" control insects (with heads attached), which were shocked at the same time as the headless subjects regardless of their leg position. The isolated prothoracic ganglion, which controls limb movement, was sufficient for the headless insects to learn the leg retraction response (Aranda and Luco, 1969; Eisenstein and Carlson, 1994; Eisenstein and Cohen, 1965). However, an experimental design flaw, outlined by Church and Lerner (1976), suggests that differences in yoked and headless insect performance do not necessarily demonstrate learning in the headless insects. The headless insects' legs are retracted for much more of the training phase than the yoked controls' legs (as they do not immediately receive a shock after extending their legs again). Computer simulations further demonstrated that this difference in retraction time between groups could be the result of reflex, without learning, on the part of headless insects. Therefore, studies using the Horridge paradigm should not be taken as good evidence for operant conditioning in headless insects.

More complex forms of Pavlovian learning may offer better evidence for sentience (Birch et al., 2020, 2021; Ginsburg and Jablonka, 2019). One example is trace conditioning, a form of classical conditioning with a time interval between the conditioned stimulus (CS) and unconditioned stimulus (US) (Droege et al., 2021). Unlike delay conditioning (where the CS and US overlap), this requires a neural representation of the CS after it has ceased (Dylla et al., 2013). It has been suggested that when such trace conditioning requires the subject to keep track of the delay between the CS and the US, this requires conscious awareness of the stimuli and interval (Bellebaum and Daum, 2004; Knuttinen et al., 2001). According to Dylla et al. (2013), insects can be faster than vertebrates at learning trace conditioning tasks, making them ideal for studying this behaviour.

Several studies have demonstrated nociceptive trace conditioning in adult fruit flies, pairing odours (CS) with shocks (US; Dylla et al., 2017; Galili et al., 2014; Shuai et al., 2011). However, without proper controls, odours can linger in the apparatus during the time interval (Galili et al., 2011), raising uncertainty about whether experiments are testing trace or delay conditioning (Dylla et al., 2013). To avoid these issues, Grover et al. (2022) developed a novel Pavlovian visual conditioning paradigm (adapted from Brembs and Heisenberg, 2000). Tethered flies were shown one of two shapes (CS), which was paired with aversive heat (US) in either a trace or delay context. Flies were subsequently shown both shapes simultaneously and allowed to orient towards one or the other. If flies oriented away from the shape paired with the noxious heat, this indicated they had learned the association. Flies could learn this task for trace intervals of around 20s (although there was no evidence of them learning the duration of the interval, an important part of trace conditioning tasks in the mammal literature on the involvement of consciousness with such tasks). Further, distracting stimuli, such as air puffs, impaired trace conditioning but not delay conditioning (Grover et al., 2022). This mirrors the responses of mammals to distractions while engaged in conscious (trace) vs. unconscious (delay) learning (Clark and Squire, 1998, 1999; Han et al., 2003).

Another consciousness-linked type of learning has been discussed in the context of reversal learning: classical conditioning after the reinforcement contingencies have reversed. Travers et al. (2018) reported that, in humans, rapid reversal learning was only possible if participants consciously perceived the stimuli. The critical question is whether an animal improves performance with multiple reversals, so that it can be inferred that the animal has understood the principle of the reversal (rather than having to learn do novo after each reversal; Shettleworth, 1998). Basic reversal learning has been found in a range of insects. In as little as one trial, fruit flies learned to reverse odour-shock (McCurdy et al., 2021; Shuai et al., 2011; Tully and Quinn, 1985; Wu et al., 2012), odour-heat (Guo and Guo, 2005) and pattern-heat associations (Guo and Guo, 2005; Ren et al., 2012). Additionally, Longo (1964) reported reversal learning in the grey cockroach (*Nauphoeta cinerea*; Blattodea: Blaberidae) when electric shock reinforcement was swapped between different arms of a T-maze (see also, *P. americana* cockroaches: Balderrama, 1980).

Numerous studies of non-nociceptive reversal learning have been conducted in fruit fly larvae (Mancini et al., 2019), and adult honey bees and bumblebees (Boitard et al., 2015; Chittka 1998; Dyer et al., 2014; Raine and Chittka, 2012). In one study on serial reversal learning, honeybees failed the criterion of "learning to reverse learn" (Mota and Giurfa, 2010); conversely Chittka (1998) trained a single common eastern bumblebee (*Bombus impatiens* [Hymenoptera: Apidae]) through several reversals over multiple days; this individual became highly efficient at the end of training and switched preference after only two errors following each reversal. However, nociceptive reversal learning that could be used as evidence to fulfil this criterion has not been tested in these taxa; for the others, the key criterion of learning to reverse-learn remains to be tested.

More experiments are needed to confirm the link between abilities like trace conditioning, or rapid reversal learning, and consciousness in insects. Future researchers could demonstrate a conscious/unconscious distinction by "switching off" the abilities in a putative unconscious condition, perhaps by masking the stimuli (Birch, 2020) or distracting subjects with a competing task (Droege et al., 2021). The strongest evidence would come from consciousness-linked forms of learning that have unconscious analogues. For example, while trace conditioning seems to require conscious awareness in humans (Clark and Squire, 1998; Clark et al., 2001; Clark and Squire, 1999), this appears not to be the case for delay conditioning (Clark and Squire, 1999; Han et al., 2003; Knight et al., 2006). A similar pattern of results for multiple consciousness-linked learning abilities would bolster the case for insect consciousness (Birch, 2020; Crump and Birch, 2022; Shea and Bayne, 2010). Overall, there are multiple studies demonstrating nociceptive associative learning in adult Blattodea, Diptera, Hymenoptera, Lepidoptera, and Orthoptera, as well as last instar juvenile Diptera and **Lepidoptera**, so we have very high confidence that these orders fulfil this criterion at these life stages. To our knowledge, there is no direct evidence of *nociceptive* associative learning in **adults** or **juveniles** of any adult Coleoptera, juvenile Blattodea, Coleoptera, Hymenoptera, Orthoptera or first instar juvenile Diptera and Lepidoptera; thus, we have very low confidence (no research found) (Table 9).

 Table 9
 Confidence levels for criterion 7 (associative learning). By default, information in the right column is for first instars. Where published information on later instars exists, cells are split; left: first instar; right: last instar.

Insect order	Adult	Juvenile		
Blattodea	VН	VL (no research found)		
Coleoptera	VL (no research found)	VL (no research found)		
Diptera	VH	VL (no research found)	VH	
Hymenoptera	VH	VL (no researd	h found)	
Lepidoptera	VH	VL (no research found)	VH	
Orthoptera	VH	VL (no researc	h found)	

VH = Very high; H = High; VL (no research found) = Very low (no research found). When cells are split for juveniles, left cell indicates the first instar and right cell indicates the last instar.

3.8 Criterion 8: Analgesia preference

Animals can show that they value a putative analgesic or anaesthetic when injured in one or more of the following ways

(a) The animal learns to self-administer putative analgesics or anaesthetics when injured

When an injured animal self-administers an analgesic drug, they demonstrate a motivation to cease their perception of the injury. A local anaesthetic works peripherally, suggesting (minimally) that the animal is motivated to end nociceptive processing of the injury. A drug that works in the brain, possibly on areas involved in pain experience, suggests the animal is motivated to end the feeling of pain.

To self-administer analgesics, an injured animal must know: (1) the behavioural response necessary to administer the drug, and (2) the drug's analgesic effect. In vertebrates, condition 1 is usually trained by associating a conditioned stimulus (e.g., colours, spatial locations) with the unconditioned stimulus (e.g., analgesic drug or control). For condition 2, the analgesic and control are presented successively, with a time gap when the drug's effects can be experienced. This ensures that the animal only associates the analgesic effect with the drug conditioned stimulus, and not the control stimulus. The vertebrate literature includes self-administration experiments that rigorously satisfy both conditions. As an example, Colpaert et al. (2001) trained arthritic and healthy rats (*Rattus norvegicus domestica*; Rodentia: Muridae) to drink from a feeder containing fentanyl, an analgesic drug, for one day. The day after, they offered both the fentanyl feeder (in the same location) and a control feeder (in a different location). Arthritic rats drank from the fentanyl feeder more than healthy rats.

Unfortunately, the only insect study on analgesic self-administration does not satisfy condition 2. Groening et al. (2017) offered feeders containing either morphine sulphate (as the analgesic) or no morphine (as the control) to injured and healthy *A. mellifera* bees. Injured bees did not use the morphine feeders more than healthy bees, so the authors concluded that injured honey bees do not self-administer morphine. However, both feeders were presented simultaneously. If morphine's analgesic effects are not immediate, and the bees were not using the drug feeder when the effect kicked in, then the bees would not have the chance to associate the drug's effect with the morphine feeder.

Additionally, Groening et al. (2017) chose morphine sulphate as the analgesic, but insects do not have opioid receptors (Elphick et al., 2018; Jékely, 2013; Kreienkamp et al., 2002; Mirabeau and Joly, 2013). Older morphine studies that reported "analgesic" effects in insects (Núñez et al., 1983; Zabala et al., 1984) possibly reported artefacts based on on binding of opioids to non-opioid receptors, or documented effects on general locomotion and responsiveness, rather than nociception (see Criterion 4). Therefore, future studies should use analgesics validated for insects, such as GABA agonists (Bowery, 2006).

Groening et al. (2017) also highlighted that uninjured and injured bees *all* consumed less morphine-sucrose solution than control solution, indicating a bias against the morphine-sucrose solution. This is probably because morphine has a bitter taste (Chen et al., 2014), which bees quickly learn to avoid (Chittka et al., 2003). Thus, even if bees could associate the feeder with the drug's effects, they would also have to overcome a taste aversion to use the morphine feeders. Future studies using validated analgesics should mask aversive tastes with appetitive flavours. If this cannot be achieved, topical application or injection are alternate delivery methods (Barron et al., 2007). Given these complications—the simultaneous presentation of treatment and control, the choice of an analgesic that might not work in bees, and the undisguised aversive taste of morphine—Groening et al.'s study provides poor evidence against analgesic self-administration in bees.

There are no other analgesic/anaesthetic self-administration studies on insects. However, one study found that parasitised *B. terrestris* bumblebees will self-medicate with nicotine, which has antimicrobial properties (Baracchi et al., 2015). Multiple studies also demonstrate self-administration of ethanol and psychotropic drugs in fruit flies (Devineni and Heberlein, 2009; Rigo et al., 2021). These studies used healthy, uninjured flies, and therefore do not fulfil the criterion. However, their protocols should be considered for future self-administration studies on insects.

(b) The animal learns to prefer, when injured, a location at which analgesics or anaesthetics can be accessed.

To our knowledge, no insect studies have investigated whether analgesics or anaesthetics affect conditioned place preference.

(c) The animal prioritises obtaining these compounds over other needs (such as food) when injured.

To our knowledge, there are no insect studies investigating whether injured insects prioritise obtaining analgesics/anaesthetics over other needs.

Due to a lack of evidence (apart from very weak negative evidence in *A. mellifera* bees) we have very low confidence one way or another for **all focal orders at all life stages** regarding analgesic self-administration in injured insects. This represents a major knowledge gap (Table 10).

Insect order	Adult	Juvenile
Blattodea	VL (no research found)	VL (no research found)
Coleoptera	VL (no research found)	VL (no research found)
Diptera	VL (no research found)	VL (no research found)
Hymenoptera	VL	VL (no research found)
Lepidoptera	VL (no research found)	VL (no research found)
Orthoptera	VL (no research found)	VL (no research found)

 Table 10 Confidence levels for criterion 8 (analgesia preference). Information in the right column is for first instars.

VL=Very low; VL (no research found)=Very low (no research found).

4. Summary of evidence for insect pain

In Section 3, we assessed the evidence for each criterion in adults and juveniles of six insect orders. Table 11 summarises our confidence levels for adults, and Table 12 summarises our ratings for first (and last) instar juveniles.

Birch et al. (2021) suggested an approximate grading scheme for communicating the strength of evidence for sentience (specifically for pain). The five grades were:

- 1. Very strong evidence: High or very high confidence that 7–8 criteria are satisfied. Welfare protection clearly merited. No urgent need for further research into pain experience in this taxon.
- 2. Strong evidence: High or very high confidence that 5–6 criteria are satisfied. If remaining indicators are uncertain rather than shown absent, further research is advisable. However, these animals should be regarded as sentient (or capable of pain) in the context of animal welfare legislation.
- **3. Substantial evidence:** High or very high confidence that 3–4 criteria are satisfied. If remaining indicators are uncertain rather than shown absent, further research is strongly recommended. Despite the scientific

Adults	Criterion 1: Nociception	Criterion 2: Sensory integration	Criterion 3: Integrated nociception	Criterion 4: Analgesia	Criterion 5: Motivational trade-offs	Criterion 6: Flexible self- protection	Criterion 7: Associative learning	Criterion 8: Analgesia preference
Blattodea	н	VH	VH	н	VL (no research found)	н	VH	VL (no research found)
Coleoptera	VH	VH	VL (no research found)	VL (no research found)	VL (no research found)	VL (no research found)	VL (no research found)	VL (no research found)
Diptera	VH	VH	VH	VH	н	VL (no research found)	VH	VL (no research found)
Hymenoptera	VH	VH	VL (no research found)	м	н	VL (no research found)	VH	VL
Lepidoptera	VH	VH	VL (no research found)	VL (no research found)	VL (no research found)	VL (no research found)	VH	VL (no research found)
Orthoptera	н	VH	VL (no research found)	L	VL (no research found)	VL (no research found)	VH	VL (no research found)

Table 11 Confidence level for each criterion for adults of each focal insect order.

VH = Very high; H = High; M = Medium; L = Low; VL = Very low; VL (no research found) = Very low (no research found).

Juvenile	Criterion 1: Nociception	Criteri Sens integra	on 2: ory ation	Criterio Integrat nocicep	n 3: ted tion	Criterion 4: Analgesia	Criterion 5: Motivational trade-offs	Criterio Flexible protect	n 6: self- ion	Criterio Associat learnir	n 7: tive Ng	Criterion 8: Analgesia preference
Blattodea	н	н		н		VL (no research found)	VL (no research found)	VL (no research found)		VL (no research found)		VL (no research found)
Coleoptera	н	L		VL (no res found	earch)	VL (no research found)	VL (no research found)	VL (no researc found)	VL (no reso found	earch)	VL (no research found)
Diptera	VH	Vł	1	VL (no research found)	м	VH	VL (no research found)	VL (no researc found)	VL (no research found)	VH	VL (no research found)
Hymenoptera	н	VL	м	VL (no res found	earch)	VL (no research found)	VL (no research found)	VL (no researc found)	VL (no res found	earch)	VL (no research found)
Lepidoptera	VH	L	м	VL (no research found)	L	VL (no research found)	VL (no research found)	VL (no research found)	н	VL (no research found)	VH	VL (no research found)
Orthoptera	н	н		VL (no res found	earch I	VL (no research found)	VL (no research found)	VL (no researc found)	VL (no rese found	earch)	VL (no research found)

 Table 12 Confidence level for each criterion for juveniles of each focal insect order.

When cells are split for a criterion, left cell indicates the first instar and right cell indicates the last instar juvenile. VH = Very high; H = High; M = Medium; L = Low; VL = Very low; VL (no research found) = Very low (no research found).

uncertainty regarding these animals, it might still be reasonable to include them within the scope of animal welfare legislation, e.g., if they are closely related to animals that have been more extensively studied and for which the evidence is stronger.

- 4. Some evidence: High or very high confidence that 2 criteria are satisfied. Sentience (or pain) should not be ruled out. If remaining indicators are uncertain rather than shown absent, further research might provide insight.
- 5. Capacity for pain unknown or unlikely: High or very high confidence that 0–1 criteria are satisfied. If remaining indicators are uncertain rather than shown absent, sentience (or pain) is simply unknown. However, if high-quality scientific work shows the other indicators to be absent, pain is unlikely.

Using these ratings, we found that **adult Blattodea** and **Diptera** satisfy 6 criteria with high or very high confidence. According to the Birch et al. framework, this constitutes strong evidence of the capacity for pain. **Last instar juvenile Diptera** and **Adult Hymenoptera** satisfy 4 criteria with high or very high confidence. **Adult Lepidoptera** and **Orthoptera**, **juvenile Blattodea**, first instar **juvenile Diptera**, and last instar

juvenile Lepidoptera satisfy 3 criteria with high or very high confidence. This amounts to substantial evidence of pain experiences. Adult Coleoptera and **juvenile Orthoptera** satisfy 2 criteria—some evidence of pain. **Juvenile Coleoptera** and **Hymenoptera**, and first instar **juvenile Lepidoptera** satisfy one criterion, which by our criteria means that the capacity for pain experiences is unknown. We found no robust evidence that any order definitively failed any criteria.

Our assessment here is limited by the state of the scientific literature. Even just for the six focal orders in this review, there was no evidence at all for many criteria (especially for juveniles). For insect orders we did not include in this review, there is even less evidence; we cannot reliably generalise from our focal orders to all insects. Further, most research within our focal orders was conducted on a few "model" species. To determine our confidence levels for each order, we were forced to generalise from just a few species. These species may not be representative of the vast majority of their order.

For juvenile insects, which are especially understudied, these generalisations may be even more problematic. For example, much of our neural data on juvenile Hymenoptera came from honey bee larvae, which live inside protecting wax cells and are cared for by adults; they thus have fewer demands during development, including for self-protection or cognition. Sawfly larvae (also hymenopterans) are solitary and free-living, and may have many more cognitive demands during development as a result. These key behavioural differences may necessarily change the temporal development of the neural substrates required for sentience or pain, even for species within the same order. Future work should look for evidence across development in understudied orders, as well as in non-model species within our focal orders.

Additionally, our review stuck closely to the original Birch et al. framework. As noted by Irvine (2022), there are interdependencies and redundancies between criteria (e.g., Criteria 2 and 3), and the eight criteria do not provide equivalent weight in assessing the likelihood of pain vs. nociception - yet they are given equal consideration in drawing a final conclusion about pain in this section. Caution is also warranted when interpreting behavioural data in insects as evidence for emotion-like states (Baracchi et al., 2017). Future work may continue to improve this framework as our scientific understanding of pain continues to advance through collaborations between biologists and philosophers.

5. Ethical considerations for the use or management of insects

Insects are managed in a variety of contexts that may raise welfare concerns, including the food and feed industry, silk/shellac/dye production, waste management, pest/invasive species management, wildlife conservation, beekeeping, zoos and insectariums, research/education settings, the entertainment industry, in medicine, and as pets. By far, the largest number of insects with welfare impacted by human management will be in wild/ agricultural settings, followed by the growing insects as food and feed industry (Rowe, 2020a, 2020b).

Wild insect populations are managed using pesticides, parasitoids, infectious agents, reproductive control, sticky traps, and more. Few estimates are available to determine how many insects such practices affect. However, some estimates posit that the number could be as large as 10 quadrillion annually (Rowe, 2020a), and many management practices are likely to be low welfare. For example, pesticides have negative physiological impacts on insects, including deleterious effects on the nervous system, myocardial cell dysfunction, developmental perturbations resulting in malformation, reproductive system abnormalities, reduced longevity, decreased immune function, and at high levels of exposure, immediate death (Desneux et al., 2007).

The UN Food and Agriculture Organisation has promoted insect farming as a way to help feed a global population of 10 billion people by 2050 (Baillie and Zhang, 2018). Compared to traditional livestock, insects have a higher nutritional value (van Huis and Tomberlin, 2017), are cheaper to farm (Lambert et al., 2021), and can result in lower greenhouse gas emissions (Oonincx et al., 2010). The insects as food and feed industry slaughters over a trillion individuals annually (Rowe, 2020b) and is projected to grow rapidly (de Jong and Nikolik, 2021). For context, about 79 billion terrestrial mammal and bird livestock are slaughtered for meat annually, worldwide (Šimčikas, 2020). The insects as food and feed industry will, thus, become the largest livestock rearing project in human history.

The current lack of guidance on insect pain and welfare is particularly concerning, since the insect farming industry might involve serious welfare issues in both rearing and slaughter. For example, starvation of adults used for breeding, inhumane slaughter, unmet needs for mating behaviour, nutritional inadequacies, disease, and larval crowding/overheating are all welfare issues for farmed black soldier flies (Barrett et al., 2022). However, there is interest by producers, academics, and consumers in species-specific insect welfare investigations (e.g., Barrett et al., 2022, Kortsmit et al., 2022) that can inform industry best practices, particularly given the large number of insects involved (Bear, 2019, 2021; de Goede et al., 2013; Delvendahl et al., 2022; Erens et al., 2012; Gjerris et al., 2016; IPIFF, 2019; van Huis and Tomberlin, 2017; van Huis, 2021).

Seven farmed species are currently cultivated in truly massive numbers for food and feed, with another four species being managed intensively for other products (see Table 13; Rowe, 2020a; Rowe, 2021). Given the large numbers of individuals impacted, the practical importance of studying

Species name	Order: Family	Common name	Main Use			
Acheta domesticus	Orthoptera: Gryllidae	house cricket	Food and feed industry			
Alphitobius diaperinus	Coleoptera: Tenebrionidae	lesser mealworm beetle	Food and feed industry			
Apis mellifera	Hymenoptera: Apidae	western honey bee	Pollination services, honey production			
Bombyx mori	nbyx mori Lepidoptera: domestic Bombycidae silkworm		Silk production			
Dactylopius coccus	Hemiptera: Dactylopiidae	cochineal bug	Dye production			
Gryllus assimilis	Orthoptera: Gryliidae	Jamaican field cricket	Food and feed industry			
Gryllodes sigillatus	Orthoptera: Gryliidae	banded cricket	Food and feed industry			
Hermetia illucens	Diptera: Stratiomyidae	black soldier fly	Food and feed industry			
Kerria lacca [*]	Hemiptera: Kerridae	common lac scale	Lac production			
Musca domestica	Diptera: Muscidae	house fly	Food and feed industry			
Tenebrio molitor	Coleoptera: Tenebrionidae	yellow mealworm beetle	Food and feed industry			

 Table 13 Most farmed insect species.

* Most commonly farmed species, but other species such as *Kerria yunnanensis* are also farmed in large numbers. In addition, strain-specific differences in ecology may be especially important when considering the welfare concerns of this species.

a limited number of species, and the precedent for regulating the welfare of livestock, research should begin with these eleven insects, using or expanding upon the model established in Barrett et al. (2022).

Considering insect welfare in these settings presents major practical and ethical challenges (Barrett & Fischer, 2022). For example, assessment tools for livestock are designed for use with vertebrates, such as Brambell's Five Freedoms (Brambell, 1965). These tools do not easily translate to insects, a limitation admitted by many of the entomologists adopting them for early explorations of farmed insect welfare (Barrett et al., 2022; de Goede et al., 2013; Erens et al., 2012; van Huis, 2021). Additionally, the vast majority of farmed holometabolous insects are slaughtered as larvae. As our review demonstrates, there has been little research on larval pain. Given this uncertainty, should the welfare of the larger number of larval insects be treated in the same way as adults? How we address these challenges (among others) could have tremendous impacts on the welfare of the insects, wild and farmed vertebrates, and humans relying on insect farming or management for food or economic security – as well as the cost, feasibility, and design of production facilities and wildlife management tools.

Finally, insects are widely used in research, although probably significantly fewer individuals than in the aforementioned contexts (minimally 100 million: Rowe, 2020b). While vertebrate research is increasingly legislated, insects may be subjected to invasive procedures, kept in poor conditions, and killed en masse with no consideration for welfare. Some scientists have argued for the consideration of insect welfare independent of any formalised processes (Drinkwater et al., 2019; Sandall and Fischer, 2019; Smith, 1991). Taking insect welfare into consideration is valuable for the sake of the insects, and also necessary in practice, given changing public perception of insect pain. A survey of nearly 5000 American adults found that 52%, 56%, and 65% of the population believed that termites, ants, and bees are capable of pain, respectively. Only 8-13% disagreed in each case, and the rest were unsure (Dullaghan et al., 2021). Drinkwater et al. (2019) suggest that, given shifting opinions on invertebrate sentience, the scientific community may lose public support if the field does not revisit the ethics of invertebrate research. This position is corroborated by recent data from Canada showing that public trust in scientists decreases when oversight of invertebrate research is absent (Brunt et al., 2022).

Many of the challenges discussed above also apply to insect welfare in research settings. Additionally, there are interspecific welfare trade-offs to be considered, as many experimenters reduce their use of vertebrates by replacing them with insects. In most insect species, there are almost no data on humane treatment in the lab or field. For example, while general anaesthetics are known to reduce overall sensory processing, or possibly conscious perception in a wide variety of insects at both the juvenile and adult stage (Abe et al., 2014; Campbell and Nash, 1994; Gooley and Gooley, 2021; Lizé et al., 2010; Lum and Flaherty, 1972; Ma et al., 2022; MacMillan et al., 2017; McCallion et al., 2021; Ribbands, 1950; Sandstrom, 2004; Takami, 2003; Yang et al., 2016), there are no standardised protocols on the humane use of these anaesthetics for experimental manipulation or sacrifice. The lack of guidelines is a practical challenge for experimenters looking to adopt higher-welfare practices (although see Zemanova, 2020; database in Zemanova, 2022; for many non-lethal/non-invasive techniques).

The new challenges that considering insect welfare will bring in these contexts require interdisciplinary collaboration between ethicists, entomologists, comparative cognition scientists, animal welfare researchers, policymakers, economists, industry and wildlife management professionals, in order to make decisions that protect the interests of all animals.

6. Conclusion

Using the Birch et al. (2021) framework, we reviewed the evidence for sentience (and specifically pain) in six insect orders across their development. We found "strong evidence" for pain experiences in adults of two orders, Diptera (flies and mosquitoes) and Blattodea (cockroaches and termites). There was also "substantial evidence" in adult Hymenoptera (bees, wasps, ants, and sawflies), Orthoptera (crickets and grasshoppers), and Lepidoptera (butterflies and moths), and "some evidence" in adult Coleoptera (beetles). Evidence was generally weaker for juvenile stages, but we nonetheless found "substantial evidence" in juvenile Blattodea and Diptera, as well as last instar Lepidoptera, and "some evidence" in juvenile Orthoptera. Juvenile Hymenoptera and Coleoptera, as well as first instar Lepidoptera, were categorised as "pain experiences unknown". We found no good evidence against sentience, or specifically pain perception, in any insect orders at any life stage—lower ratings invariably reflected absence of evidence, rather than negative evidence. More insect research is crucial to address these knowledge gaps, as well as to investigate and minimise potential welfare issues. Overall, we hope this review convinces even sceptical readers that insect pain is plausible and deserves further study.

Acknowledgements

We thank Elisabetta Versace, Katrin Vogt, Nikita Komarov and Frederic Libersat for their feedback on the manuscript.

Conflict of interest

Meghan Barrett reports a relationship with Rethink Priorities that includes: consulting.

Funding statement

This research is part of a project that has received funding from the European Research Council (ERC) under the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme, Grant Number 851145. M.G. received funding from a Queen Mary University of London PhD Studentship. M.B. is currently funded as an NSF postdoctoral research fellow (2109399).

References

- Abe, S., Yamamoto, K., Ying, A., Saeki, J., Itagaki, T., Kofujita, H., Suzuki, K., 2014. CO2 anesthesia enhances infection rate of *cordyceps militaris* (Hypocreales: Clavicipitaceae) on pupae of the silkworm, *Bombyx mori*. J. Insect Biotechnol. Sericology. 83, 77–81.
- Abramson, C.I., 1986. Aversive conditioning in honeybees (*Apis mellifera*). J. Comp. Psychol. 100, 108–116.
- Abramson, C.I., Morris, A.W., Michaluk, L.M., Squire, J., 2004. Antistatic foam as a shocking surface for behavioral studies with honey bees (Hymenoptera: Apidae) and American cockroaches (Orthoptera: Blattelidae). J. Entomol. Sci. 39, 562–566.
- Abramson, C.I., Stone, S.M., Ortez, R.A., Luccardi, A., Vann, K.L., Hanig, K.D., Rice, J., 2000. The development of an ethanol model using social insects I: behavior studies of the honey bee (*Apis mellifera* L.). Alcohol. Clin. Exp. Res. 24, 1153–1166.
- Aceves-Piña, E.O., Quinn, W.G., 1979. Learning in normal and mutant *Drosophila* larvae. Science 206, 93–96.
- Adamkiewicz, B., Tęgowska, E., Grajpel, B., Olszewska, J., 2012. How capsaicin changes the toxicity of pyrethroids in American cockroach (*Periplaneta americana*). Ecol. Chem. Eng. A. 19, 1263–1270.
- Adamo, S.A., 2016. Do insects feel pain? A question at the intersection of animal behaviour, philosophy and robotics. Anim. Behav. 118, 75–79.
- Adamo, S.A., 2019. Is it pain if it does not hurt? On the unlikelihood of insect pain. Can. Entomol. 151, 685–695.
- Adams, C.M., Anderson, M.G., Motto, D.G., Price, M.P., Johnson, W.A., Welsh, M.J., 1998. Ripped pocket and pickpocket, novel *Drosophila* DEG/ENaC subunits expressed in early development and in mechanosensory neurons. J. Cell Biol. 140, 143–152.
- Ainsley, J.A., Pettus, J.M., Bosenko, D., Gerstein, C.E., Zinkevich, N., Anderson, M.G., Adams, C.M., Welsh, M.J., Johnson, W.A., 2003. Enhanced locomotion caused by loss of the *Drosophila* DEG/ENaC protein Pickpocket1. Curr. Biol. 13, 1557–1563.
- Al-Anzi, B., Tracey, W.D., Benzer, S., 2006. Response of *Drosophila* to wasabi is mediated by painless, the fly homolog of mammalian TRPA1/ANKTM1. Curr. Biol. 16, 1034–1040.
- Aldrich, B.T., Kasuya, J., Faron, M., Ishimoto, H., Kitamoto, T., 2010. The amnesiac gene is involved in the regulation of thermal nociception in *Drosophila melanogaster*. J. Neurogenet. 24, 33–41.

- Allen-Hermanson, S., 2008. Insects and the problem of simple minds: are bees natural zombies? J. Philos. 105, 389–415.
- Allen-Hermanson, S., 2016. Is cortex necessary? Anim. Sentience 9, 6.
- Appel, M., Elwood, R.W., 2009. Motivational trade-offs and potential pain experience in hermit crabs. Appl. Anim. Behav. Sci. 119, 120–124.
- Aranda, L.C., Luco, J.V., 1969. Further studies on an electric correlate to learning. Experiments in an isolated insect ganglion. Physiol. Behav. 4, 133–137.
- Araujo, S.M., Bortolotto, V.C., Poetini, M.R., Dahleh, M.M.M., Couto, S.d.F., Pinheiro, F.C., Meichtry, L.B., Musachio, E.A.S., Ramborger, B.P., Roehrs, R., Guerra, G.P., Prigol, M., 2021. γ-Oryzanol produces an antidepressant-like effect in a chronic unpredictable mild stress model of depression in *Drosophila melanogaster*. Stress 24, 282–293.
- Araujo, S.M., Poetini, M.R., Bortolotto, V.C., de Freitas Couto, S., Pinheiro, F.C., Meichtry, L.B., de Almeida, F.P., Santos Musachio, E.A., de Paula, M.T., Prigol, M., 2018. Chronic unpredictable mild stress-induced depressive-like behavior and dysregulation of brain levels of biogenic amines in *Drosophila melanogaster*. Behav. Brain Res. 351, 104–113.
- Aso, Y., Herb, A., Ogueta, M., Siwanowicz, I., Templier, T., Friedrich, A.B., Ito, K., Scholz, H., Tanimoto, H., 2012. Three dopamine pathways induce aversive odor memories with different stability. PLoS Genet. 8, e1002768.
- Auvray, M., Myin, E., Spence, C., 2010. The sensory-discriminative and affective-motivational aspects of pain. Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev. 34, 214–223.
- Bachtel, N.D., Hovsepian, G.A., Nixon, D.F., Eleftherianos, I., 2018. Allatostatin C modulates nociception and immunity in *Drosophila*. Sci. Rep. 8, 7501.
- Baillie, J., Zhang, Y.-P., 2018. Space for nature. Science 361, 1051.
- Balderrama, N., 1980. One trial learning in the American cockroach, *Periplaneta americana*. J. Insect Physiol. 26, 499–504.
- Baracchi, D., Brown, M.J.F., Chittka, L., 2015. Behavioural evidence for self-medication in bumblebees? F1000Research 4, 73.
- Baracchi, D., Lihoreau, M., Giurfa, M., 2017. Do insects have emotions? Some insights from bumble bees. Front. Behav. Neurosci. 11, 157.
- Barraco, D.A., Lovell, K.L., Eisenstein, E.M., 1981. Effects of cycloheximide and puromycin on learning and retention in the cockroach, *P. americana*. Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav. 15, 489–494.
- Barrett, M., Chia, S.Y., Fischer, B., Tomberlin, J.K., 2022. Welfare considerations for farming black soldier flies, *Hermetia illucens* (Diptera: Stratiomyidae): a model for the insects as food and feed industry. J. Insects Food Feed, 1–30.
- Barrett, M., Fischer, B., 2022. Challenges in farmed insect welfare: beyond the question of sentience. Animal Welfare. (in press).
- Barron, A.B., Klein, C., 2016. What insects can tell us about the origins of consciousness. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 113, 4900–4908.
- Barron, A.B., Maleszka, J., Vander Meer, R.K., Robinson, G.E., Maleszka, R., 2007. Comparing injection, feeding and topical application methods for treatment of honeybees with octopamine. J. Insect Physiol. 53, 187–194.
- Bates, A.S., Schlegel, P., Roberts, R.J.V., Drummond, N., Tamimi, I.F.M., Turnbull, R., Zhao, X., Marin, E.C., Popovici, P.D., Dhawan, S., Jamasb, A., Javier, A., Serratosa Capdevila, L., Li, F., Rubin, G.M., Waddell, S., Bock, D.D., Costa, M., Jefferis, G.S.X.E., 2020. Complete connectomic reconstruction of olfactory projection neurons in the fly brain. Curr. Biol. 30, 3183–3199.
- Bateson, P., 1991. Assessment of pain in animals. Anim. Behav. 42, 827-839.
- Bateson, M., Desire, S., Gartside, S.E., Wright, G.A., 2011. Agitated honeybees exhibit pessimistic cognitive biases. Curr. Biol. 21, 1070–1073.

- Bear, C., 2019. Approaching insect death: understandings and practices of the UK's edible insect farmers. Soc. Anim. 27, 751–768.
- Bear, C., 2021. Making insects tick: responsibility, attentiveness and care in edible insect farming. Environ. Plan. E Nat. Space 4, 1010–1030.
- Bellebaum, C., Daum, I., 2004. Effects of age and awareness on eyeblink conditional discrimination learning. Behav. Neurosci. 118, 1157–1165.
- Ben-Shahar, Y., 2011. 1 sensory functions for Degenerin/epithelial sodium channels (DEG/ENaC). Adv. Genet. 76, 1–26.
- Benzer, S., 1967. Behavioral mutants of *Drosophila* isolated by countercurrent distribution. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 58, 1112–1119.
- Berck, M.E., Khandelwal, A., Claus, L., Hernandez-Nunez, L., Si, G., Tabone, C.J., Li, F., Truman, J.W., Fetter, R.D., Louis, M., Samuel, A.D., 2016. The wiring diagram of a glomerular olfactory system. eLife 5, e14859.
- Birch, J., 2017. Animal sentience and the precautionary principle. Anim. Sentience. 16, 1.
- Birch, J., 2020. The search for invertebrate consciousness. Noûs 56, 133-153.
- Birch, J., Burn, C., Schnell, A., Browning, H., Crump, A., 2021. Review of the evidence of sentience in cephalopod molluscs and decapod crustaceans. Anim. Feel. General, 2.
- Birch, J., Schnell, A.K., Clayton, N.S., 2020. Dimensions of animal consciousness. Trends Cogn. Sci. 24, 789–801.
- Black, T.E., Stauch, K.L.N., Wells, H., Abramson, C.I., 2021. Effects of ethanol ingestion on aversive conditioning in honey bees (*Apis mellifera* L.). J. Comp. Psychol. 135, 559–567.
- Blackiston, D.J., Casey, E.S., Weiss, M.R., 2008. Retention of memory through metamorphosis: can a moth remember what it learned as a caterpillar? Plos One. 3, e1736.
- Boitard, C., Devaud, J.M., Isabel, G., Giurfa, M., 2015. GABAergic feedback signaling into the calyces of the mushroom bodies enables olfactory reversal learning in honey bees. Front Behav. Neurosci. 9, 198.
- Booker, R., Quinn, W.G., 1981. Conditioning of leg position in normal and mutant Drosophila. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 78, 3940–3944.
- Bowery, N.G., 2006. GABAB receptor: a site of therapeutic benefit. Curr. Opin. Pharmacol. Neurosci. 6, 37–43.
- Brambell, F.W.R., 1965. Report of the Technical Committee to Enquire into the Welfare of Animals Kept under Intensive Livestock Husbandry Systems. House of Commons; Great Britain, Parliament.
- Brembs, B., 2003. Operant conditioning in invertebrates. Curr. Opin. Neurobiol. 13, 710–717.
- Brembs, B., 2009. Mushroom bodies regulate habit formation in *Drosophila*. Curr. Biol. 19, 1351–1355.
- Brembs, B., 2011. Spontaneous decisions and operant conditioning in fruit flies. Behav. Processes 87, 157–164.
- Brembs, B., Heisenberg, M., 2000. The operant and the classical in conditioned orientation of *Drosophilia melanogaster* at the flight simulator. Learn. Mem. 7, 104–115.
- Brembs, B., Plendl, W., 2008. Double dissociation of PKC and AC manipulations on operant and classical learning in *Drosophila*. Curr. Biol. 18, 1168–1171.
- Briffa, M., 2022. Sentience in decapods: an open question. Anim. Sentience. 32, 1.
- Brunt, M.W., Kreiberg, H., von Keyserlingk, M.A.G., 2022. Invertebrate research without ethical or regulatory oversight reduces public confidence and trust. Humanit. Soc. Sci. Commun. 9, 1–9.
- Buehlmann, C., Mangan, M., Graham, P., 2020. Multimodal interactions in insect navigation. Anim. Cogn. 23, 1129–1141.
- Campbell, D.B., Nash, H.A., 1994. Use of *Drosophila* mutants to distinguish among volatile general anesthetics. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 91, 2135–2139.

- Cardona, A., Lungu, L., 2021. The Neural Circuit Basis of Multisensory Integration in *Drosophila* Larva. University of Cambridge.
- Carhart-Harris, R.L., Roseman, L., Bolstridge, M., Demetriou, L., Pannekoek, J.N., Wall, M.B., Tanner, M., Kaelen, M., McGonigle, J., Murphy, K., Leech, R., Curran, H.V., Nutt, D.J., 2017. Psilocybin for treatment-resistant depression: fMRI-measured brain mechanisms. Sci. Rep. 7, 13187.
- Caron, D.P., Rimniceanu, M., Scibelli, A.E., Trimmer, B.A., 2020. Nociceptive neurons respond to multimodal stimuli in *Manduca sexta*. J. Exp. Biol. 223, jeb218859.
- Cayre, M., Strambi, C., Strambi, A., 1994. Neurogenesis in an adult insect brain and its hormonal control. Nature 368, 57–59.
- Cervero, F., Tattersall, J.E.H., 1986. Somatic and visceral sensory integration in the thoracic spinal cord. Prog. Brain Res. 67, 189–205.
- Cervero, F., Merskey, H., 1996. What is a noxious stimulus? Pain Forum 5, 157–161.
- Chen, Y., Fu, Y., Yang, H., Yao, T., Ma, Y., Wang, J., 2014. Effects of chronic morphine treatment on an odor conditioning paradigm, locomotor activity and sucrose responsiveness in honeybees (*Apis mellifera*). J. Insect Behav. 27, 791–803.
- Chittka, L., 1998. Sensorimotor learning in bumblebees: long-term retention and reversal training. J. Exp. Biol. 201, 515–524.
- Chittka, L., Dyer, A.G., Bock, F., Dornhaus, A., 2003. Bees trade off foraging speed for accuracy. Nature 424, 388.
- Chittka, L., Niven, J., 2009. Are bigger brains better? Curr. Biol. 19, R995–R1008.
- Chittka, L., Rossiter, S.J., Skorupski, P., Fernando, C., 2012. What is comparable in comparative cognition? Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 367, 2677–2685.
- Church, R.M., Lerner, N.D., 1976. Does the headless roach learn to avoid? Physiol. Psychol. 4, 439–442.
- Clark, R.E., Manns, J.R., Squire, L.R., 2001. Trace and delay eyeblink conditioning: contrasting phenomena of declarative and nondeclarative memory. Psychol. Sci. 12, 304–308.
- Clark, R.E., Squire, L.R., 1998. Classical conditioning and brain systems: the role of awareness. Science 280, 77–81.
- Clark, R.E., Squire, L.R., 1999. Human eyeblink classical conditioning: effects of manipulating awareness of the stimulus contingencies. Psychol. Sci. 10, 14–18.
- Collett, M., Collett, T.S., 2018. How does the insect central complex use mushroom body output for steering? Curr. Biol. 28, R733–R734.
- Colpaert, F.C., Tarayre, J.P., Alliaga, M., Bruins Slot, L.A., Attal, N., Koek, W., 2001. Opiate self-administration as a measure of chronic nociceptive pain in arthritic rats. Pain 91, 33–45.
- Crump, A., Birch, J., 2022. Animal consciousness: the interplay of neural and behavioural evidence. J. Conscious. Stud. 29, 104–128.
- Crump, A., Browning, H., Schnell, A., Burn, C., Birch, J., 2022. Sentience in decapod crustaceans: a general framework and review of the evidence. Anim. Sentience. 7, 32.
- Das Chakraborty, S., Sachse, S., 2021. Olfactory processing in the lateral horn of *Drosophila*. Cell Tiss. Res. 383 (1), 113–123.
- Darwin, C., 1872. Der Ausdruck der Gemüthsbewegung bei dem Menschen und den Thieren. E. Schweizer.
- Davenport, A.P., Evans, P.D., 1986. Sex-related differences in the concentration of Metenkephalin-like immunoreactivity in the nervous system of an insect, *Schistocerca gregaria*, revealed by radioimmunoassay. Brain Res. 383, 319–322.
- de Goede, D.M., Erens, J., Kapsomenou, E., Peters, M., 2013. Large scale insect rearing and animal welfare. In: Proceedings 11th Congress of the European Society for Agricultural and Food Ethics, pp. 236–243.

- de Jong, B., Nikolik, G., 2021. No Longer Crawling: Insect Protein to Come of Age in the 2020s. Rabobank, pp. 1–9.
- Defrin, R., Peleg, S., Weingarden, H., Heruti, R., Urca, G., 2007. Differential effect of supraspinal modulation on the nociceptive withdrawal reflex and pain sensation. Clin. Neurophysiol. 118, 427–437.
- Desneux, N., Decourtye, A., Delpuech, J.-M., 2007. The sublethal effects of pesticides on beneficial arthropods. Ann. Rev. Entomol. 52, 81–106.
- Delvendahl, N., Rumpold, B.A., Langen, N., 2022. Edible insects as food–insect welfare and ethical aspects from a consumer perspective. Insects 13, 121.
- Desmedt, L., Baracchi, D., Devaud, J.-M., Giurfa, M., d'Ettorre, P., 2017. Aversive learning of odor–heat associations in ants. J. Exp. Biol. 220, 4661–4668.
- Devineni, A.V., Heberlein, U., 2009. Preferential ethanol consumption in *Drosophila* models features of addiction. Curr. Biol. 19, 2126–2132.
- Diaz-delCastillo, M., Woldbye, D.P.D., Heegaard, A.M., 2018. Neuropeptide Y and its involvement in chronic pain. Neuroscience, Neural Circuits of Chronic Pain 387, 162–169.
- Dolan, M.-J., Frechter, S., Bates, A.S., Dan, C., Huoviala, P., Roberts, R.J., Schlegel, P., Dhawan, S., Tabano, R., Dionne, H., Christoforou, C., Close, K., Sutcliffe, B., Giuliani, B., Li, F., Costa, M., Ihrke, G., Meissner, G.W., Bock, D.D., Aso, Y., Rubin, G.M., Jefferis, G.S., 2019. Neurogenetic dissection of the *Drosophila* lateral horn reveals major outputs, diverse behavioural functions, and interactions with the mushroom body. eLife 8, e43079.
- Drinkwater, E., Robinson, E., Hart, A., 2019. Keeping invertebrate research ethical in a landscape of shifting public opinion. Methods Ecol. Evol. 10, 1265–1273.
- Droege, P., Weiss, D.J., Schwob, N., Braithwaite, V., 2021. Trace conditioning as a test for animal consciousness: a new approach. Anim. Cogn. 24, 1299–1304.
- Dubin, A.E., Patapoutian, A., 2010. Nociceptors: the sensors of the pain pathway. J. Clin. Invest. 120, 3760–3772.
- Dujardin, F., 1850. Memoire sur le systeme nerveux des insects. Ann Sci Nat Zool 14, 195–206.
- Dullaghan, N., Wildeford, P., Moss, D., 2021. Rethink Priorities Poll: US Attitudes Towards Insects. Rethink Priorities. Accessed: 18 August 2022. Retrieved from: https://static1. squarespace.com/static/6035868111c9bd46c176042b/t/60e86ab6716a8a4964438b43/ 1625844411725/Rethink+Priorities+US+insect+attitudes+poll.pdf.
- Duncan, I.J.H., 1996. Animal welfare defined in terms of feelings. In: Acta Agriculturae Scandinavica. Section a. animal science. Supplementum (Denmark). Presented at the welfare of domestic animals: concepts, theories, and methods of measurement. Vol. 27, pp. 29–35.
- Duve, H., Thorpe, A., 1983. Immunocytochemical identification of α-endorphin-like material in neurones of the brain and corpus cardiacum of the blowfly, *Calliphora vomitoria* (Diptera). Cell Tiss. Res. 233, 415–426.
- Dyer, A.G., Dorin, A., Reinhardt, V., Garcia, J.E., Rosa, M.G.P., 2014. Bee reverse-learning behavior and intra-colony differences: simulations based on behavioral experiments reveal benefits of diversity. Ecol. Model. 277, 119–131.
- Dylla, K., Galili, D., Szyszka, P., Lüdke, A., 2013. Trace conditioning in insects—keep the trace! Front. Physiol. 4, 67.
- Dylla, K.V., Raiser, G., Galizia, C.G., Szyszka, P., 2017. Trace conditioning in *Drosophila* induces associative plasticity in mushroom body Kenyon cells and dopaminergic neurons. Front. Neural Circuits. 11, 42.
- Eichler, K., Li, F., Litwin-Kumar, A., Park, Y., Andrade, I., Schneider-Mizell, C.M., Saumweber, T., Huser, A., Eschbach, C., Gerber, B., Fetter, R.D., Truman, J.W.,

Priebe, C.E., Abbott, L.F., Thum, A.S., Zlatic, M., Cardona, A., 2017. The complete connectome of a learning and memory centre in an insect brain. Nature 548, 175–182.

- Ehmer, B., Gronenberg, W., 2002. Segregation of visual input to the mushroom bodies in the honeybee (*Apis mellifera*). J. Comp. Neurol. 451, 362–373.
- Eisemann, C., Jorgensen, W., Merritt, D., Rice, M., Cribb, B., Webb, P., Zalucki, M., 1984. Do insects feel pain? — a biological view. Experientia 40, 164–167.
- Eisenstein, E.M., Carlson, A.D., 1994. Leg position learning in the cockroach nerve cord using an analog technique. Physiol. Behav. 56, 687–691.
- Eisenstein, E.M., Cohen, M.J., 1965. Learning in an isolated prothoracic insect ganglion. Anim. Behav. 13, 104–108.
- El-Awami, I.O., Dent, D.R., 1995. The interaction of surface and dust particle size on the pick-up and grooming behaviour of the German cockroach *Blattella germanica*. Entomol. Exp. Appl. 77, 81–87.
- Elphick, M.R., Mirabeau, O., Larhammar, D., 2018. Evolution of neuropeptide signalling systems. J. Exp. Biol., 221.
- Elwood, R., 2012. Evidence for pain in decapod crustaceans. Anim. Welf. 21, 23-27.
- Elwood, R.W., 2011. Pain and suffering in invertebrates? ILAR J. 52, 175-184.
- Elwood, R.W., Appel, M., 2009. Pain experience in hermit crabs? Anim. Behav. 77, 1243–1246.
- Emanuel, S., Libersat, F., 2019. Nociceptive pathway in the cockroach *Periplaneta americana*. Front. Physiol. 10, 1100.
- Erens, J., Es van, S., Haverkort, F., Kapsomenou, E., Luijben, A., 2012. A Bug's Life: Large-Scale Insect Rearing in Relation to Animal Welfare. Wageningen UR.
- Eschbach, C., Fushiki, A., Winding, M., Afonso, B., Andrade, I.V., Cocanougher, B.T., Eichler, K., Gepner, R., Si, G., Valdes-Aleman, J., Fetter, R.D., Gershow, M., Jefferis, G.S., Samuel, A.D., Truman, J.W., Cardona, A., Zlatic, M., 2021. Circuits for integrating learned and innate valences in the insect brain. eLife 10, e62567.
- Eschbach, C., Zlatic, M., 2020. Useful road maps: studying *Drosophila* larva's central nervous system with the help of connectomics. Curr. Opin. Neurobiol. 65, 129–137. Whole-brain interactions between neural circuits.
- Fahrbach, S.E., 2006. Structure of the mushroom bodies of the insect brain. Annu. Rev. Entomol. 51, 209–232.
- Farnworth, M.S., Bucher, G., Hartenstein, V., 2022. An atlas of the developing *Tribolium castaneum* brain reveals conservation in anatomy and divergence in timing to *Drosophila melanogaster*. J. Comp. Neurol.
- Farris, S.M., 2008a. Evolutionary convergence of higher brain centers spanning the protostome-deuterostome boundary. Brain Behav. Evol. 72, 106–122.
- Farris, S.M., 2008b. Structural, functional and developmental convergence of the insect mushroom bodies with higher brain centers of vertebrates. Brain Behav. Evol. 72, 1–15.
- Farris, S.M., 2008c. Tritocerebral tract input to the insect mushroom bodies. Arthropod Struct. Dev. 37, 492–503.
- Farris, S.M., 2013. Evolution of complex higher brain centers and behaviors: behavioral correlates of mushroom body elaboration in insects. Brain Behav. Evol. 82, 9–18.
- Farris, S.M., Rio, R.V., 2012. Brain development in an insect with extensive maternal care, the tsetse fly glossina morsitans (Diptera: Glossinidae). Conference Abstract: Tenth International Congress of Neuroethology. https://doi.org/10.3389/conf.fnbeh.2012. 27.00397.
- Farris, S.M., Robinson, G.E., Davis, R.L., Fahrbach, S.E., 1999. Larval and pupal development of the mushroom bodies in the honey bee, *Apis mellifera*. J. Comp. Neurol. 414, 97–113.

- Farris, S.M., Robinson, G.E., Fahrbach, S.E., 2001. Experience- and age-related outgrowth of intrinsic neurons in the mushroom bodies of the adult worker honeybee. J. Neurosci. 21, 6395–6404.
- Farris, S.M., Sinakevitch, I., 2003. Development and evolution of the insect mushroom bodies: towards the understanding of conserved developmental mechanisms in a higher brain center. Arthropod Struct. Dev. 32, 79–101.
- Farris, S.M., Strausfeld, N.J., 2001. Development of laminar organization in the mushroom bodies of the cockroach: Kenyon cell proliferation, outgrowth, and maturation. J. Comp. Neurol. 439, 331–351.
- Farris, S.M., Strausfeld, N.J., 2003. A unique mushroom body substructure common to basal cockroaches and to termites. J. Comp. Neurol. 456, 305–320.
- Farris, S.M., Van Dyke, J.W., 2015. Evolution and function of the insect mushroom bodies: contributions from comparative and model systems studies. Curr. Opin. Insect Sci. 12, 19–25.
- Feinberg, T.E., Mallatt, J., 2020. Phenomenal consciousness and emergence: eliminating the explanatory gap. Front. Psychol. 11, 1041.
- Feldt, K.S., 2000. The checklist of nonverbal pain indicators (CNPI). Pain Manag. Nurs. 1, 13–21.
- Fields, H., 2006. A motivation-decision model of pain: the role of opioids. In: Proc. 11th world Congr. Pain, pp. 449–459.
- Forman, R.R., 1984. Leg position learning by an insect. A heat avoidance learning paradigm. J. Neurobiol. 15, 127–140.
- Frank, E.T., Schmitt, T., Hovestadt, T., Mitesser, O., Stiegler, J., Linsenmair, K.E., 2017. Saving the injured: rescue behavior in the termite-hunting ant *Megaponera analis*. Sci. Adv. 3, e1602187.
- Fraser, D., Weary, D., Pajor, E., Milligan, B., 1997. A scientific conception of animal welfare that reflects ethical concerns. Ethics Anim. Welf. Collect. 6, 187–285.
- Frechter, S., Bates, A.S., Tootoonian, S., Dolan, M.-J., Manton, J., Jamasb, A.R., Kohl, J., Bock, D., Jefferis, G., 2019. Functional and anatomical specificity in a higher olfactory Centre. eLife 8, e44590.
- Frischenschlager, O., Pucher, I., 2002. Psychological management of pain. Disabil. Rehabil. 24, 416–422.
- Galili, D.S., Lüdke, A., Galizia, C.G., Szyszka, P., Tanimoto, H., 2011. Olfactory trace conditioning in Drosophila. J. Neurosci. 31, 7240–7248.
- Galili, D.S., Dylla, K.V., Lüdke, A., Friedrich, A.B., Yamagata, N., Wong, J.Y.H., Ho, C.H., Szyszka, P., Tanimoto, H., 2014. Converging circuits mediate temperature and shock aversive olfactory conditioning in *Drosophila*. Curr. Biol. 24, 1712–1722.
- Galpayage Dona, H.S.G., Chittka, L., 2020. Charles H. Turner, pioneer in animal cognition. Science 370, 530–531.
- Garcia-Larrea, L., Bastuji, H., 2018. Pain and consciousness. Prog. Neuropsychopharmacol. Biol. Psychiatry 87, 193–199. Chronic pain and psychiatric disorders.
- Gavra, T., Libersat, F., 2011. Involvement of the opioid system in the hypokinetic state induced in cockroaches by a parasitoid wasp. J. Comp. Physiol. A Neuroethol. Sens. Neural. Behav. Physiol. 197, 279–291.
- Gentle, M.J., 1992. Pain in birds. Anim. Welf. 1, 235-247.
- Gerhard, S., Andrade, I., Fetter, R.D., Cardona, A., Schneider-Mizell, C.M., 2017. Conserved neural circuit structure across *Drosophila* larval development revealed by comparative connectomics. eLife 6, e29089.
- Ghosh, D.D., Nitabach, M.N., Zhang, Y., Harris, G., 2017. Multisensory integration in *C. elegans*. Curr. Opin. Neurobiol. 43, 110–118. Neurobiology of Learning and Plasticity.

- Ghosh, D.D., Sanders, T., Hong, S., McCurdy, L.Y., Chase, D.L., Cohen, N., Koelle, M.R., Nitabach, M.N., 2016. Neural architecture of hunger-dependent multisensory decision making in *C. elegans*. Neuron 92, 1049–1062.
- Giannoni-Guzmán, M.A., Giray, T., Agosto-Rivera, J.L., Stevison, B.K., Freeman, B., Ricci, P., Brown, E.A., Abramson, C.I., 2014. Ethanol-induced effects on sting extension response and punishment learning in the Western honey bee (*Apis mellifera*). Plos One 9, e100894.
- Gibbons, M., Sarlak, S., 2020. Inhibition of pain or response to injury in invertebrates and vertebrates. Anim. Sentience. 29, 34.
- Gibbons, M., Sarlak, S., Chittka, L., 2022a. Descending control of nociception in insects? Proc. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 289, 20220599.
- Gibbons, M., Versace, E., Crump, A., Baran, B., Chittka, L., 2022b. Motivational trade-offs and modulation of nociception in bumblebees. PNAS 119. https://doi.org/10.1073/ pnas.2205821119. e2205821119.
- Ginsburg, S., Jablonka, E., 2019. The Evolution of the Sensitive Soul: Learning and the Origins of Consciousness. MIT Press, Cambridge, MA, USA.
- Giurfa, M., 2013. Cognition with few neurons: higher-order learning in insects. Trends Neurosci. 36, 285–294.
- Giurfa, M., 2015. Learning and cognition in insects. Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Cognitive Science. 6, 383–395.
- Giurfa, M., Zhang, S., Jenett, A., Menzel, R., Srinivasan, M.V., 2001. The concepts of 'sameness' and 'difference' in an insect. Nature 410, 930–933.
- Gjerris, M., Gamborg, C., Röcklinsberg, H., 2016. Ethical aspects of insect production for food and feed. J. Insects Food Feed 2, 101–110.
- Gooley, Z.C., Gooley, A.C., 2021. Metabolic effects of anesthetics (cold, CO2, and isoflurane) and captivity conditions in isolated honey bee (*Apis mellifera*) foragers under different ambient temperatures. J. Apicultural Res. https://doi.org/10.1080/00218839. 2021.1950994.
- Granger, N.A., Homberg, U., Henderson, P., Towle, A., Lauder, J.M., 1989. Serotoninimmunoreactive neurons in the brain of *Manduca sexta* during larval development and larval-pupal metamorphosis. Int. J. Dev. Neurosci. Off. J. Int. Soc. Dev. Neurosci. 7, 55–72.
- Gritsaĭ, O.B., Dubynin, V.A., Bespalova, Z., Pilipenko, V.E., 2009. Effects of several exorphins and endorphins on the escape reaction of the cockroach *Periplaneta americana* under elevated temperature conditions. Zh. Evol. Biokhim. Fiziol. 45, 391–397.
- Gritsaĭ, O.B., Dubynin, V.A., Pilipenko, V.E., Petrov, O.P., 2004. Effects of peptide and non-peptide opioids on protective reaction of the cockroach *Periplaneta americana* in the "Hot Camera.". J. Evol. Biochem. Physiol. 40, 153–160.
- Gritsaĭ, O.B., Dubynin, V.A., Pilipenko, V.E., Petrov, O.P., Andreeva, L.A., 2000. The effects of β-casomorphine-7 and naloxone on the locomotor defense response of the cockroach *Periplaneta americana* to electrical stimulation. Dokl. Biochem. 375, 245–247.
- Gritsaĭ, O.B., Pilipenko, V.E., Bespalova, Z.D., Dubynin, V.A., 2008. Role of food-derived opioid peptides in regulation of thermosensitivity of *Periplaneta americana* cockroach. Mosc. Univ. Biol. Sci. Bull. 63, 150–155.
- Groening, J., Venini, D., Srinivasan, M.V., 2017. In search of evidence for the experience of pain in honeybees: a self-administration study. Sci. Rep. 7, 45825.
- Gronenberg, W., 1999. Modality-specific segregation of input to ant mushroom bodies. Brain Behav. Evol. 54, 85–95.
- Gronenberg, W., 2001. Subdivisions of hymenopteran mushroom body calyces by their afferent supply. J. Comp. Neurol. 435, 474–489.
- Grover, D., Chen, J.-Y., Xie, J., Li, J., Changeux, J.-P., Greenspan, R.J., 2022. Differential mechanisms underlie trace and delay conditioning in *Drosophila*. Nat. 603, 302–308.

- Grueber, W.B., Graubard, K., Truman, J.W., 2001. Tiling of the body wall by multidendritic sensory neurons in *Manduca sexta*. J. Comp. Neurol. 440, 271–283.
- Grueber, W.B., Truman, J.W., 1999. Development and organization of a nitricoxide-sensitive peripheral neural plexus in larvae of the moth, *Manduca sexta*. J. Comp. Neurol. 404, 127–141.
- Gundersen, R.W., Larsen, J.R., 1978. Postembryonic development of the lateral protocerebral lobes, corpora pedunculata, deutocerebrum and tritocerebrum of *Phormia regina meigen* (Diptera: Calliphoridae). Int. J. Insect Morphol. Embryol. 7, 467–477.
- Guo, J., Guo, A., 2005. Crossmodal interactions between olfactory and visual learning in Drosophila. Sci. 309, 307–310.
- Gupta, N., Stopfer, M., 2012. Functional analysis of a higher olfactory center, the lateral horn. J. Neurosci. 32, 8138–8148.
- Hamanaka, Y., Minoura, R., Nishino, H., Miura, T., Mizunami, M., 2016. Dopamine-and tyrosine hydroxylase-immunoreactive neurons in the brain of the american cockroach, *Periplaneta americana*. PLoS One. 11, e0160531.
- Han, C.J., O'Tuathaigh, C.M., van Trigt, L., Quinn, J.J., Fanselow, M.S., Mongeau, R., Koch, C., Anderson, D.J., 2003. Trace but not delay fear conditioning requires attention and the anterior cingulate cortex. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 100, 13087–13092.
- Heft, M.W., Gracely, R.H., Dubner, R., McGrath, P.A., 1980. A validation model for verbal descriptor scaling of human clinical pain. Pain 9, 363–373.
- Heinze, S., El Jundi, B., Berg, B.G., Homberg, U., Menzel, R., Pfeiffer, K., Hensgen, R., Zittrell, F., Dacke, M., Warrant, E., Pfuhl, G., Rybak, J., Tedore, K., 2021. A unified platform to manage, share, and archive morphological and functional data in insect neuroscience. eLife 10, e65376.
- Heisenberg, M., Wolf, R., Brembs, B., 2001. Flexibility in a single behavioral variable of *Drosophila*. Learn. Mem. Cold Spring Harb. N 8, 1–10.
- Hentschel, E., Penzlin, H., 1982. Beeinflussung des putzverhaltens bei *Periplaneta americana* (L.) durch wundsetzung, naloxon-, morphin-, und met-Enkephalingaben. Zool. Jahrbucher Abt. Allg. Zool. Physiol. Tiere.
- Hibicke, M., Nichols, C.D., 2022. Validation of the forced swim test in *Drosophila*, and its use to demonstrate psilocybin has long-lasting antidepressant-like effects in flies. Sci. Rep. 12, 10019.
- Hill, C., 2016. Insects: still looking like zombies. Anim. Sentience. 9, 20.
- Homberg, U., 1985. Interneurones of the central complex in the bee brain (*Apis mellifera*, L.). J. Insect Physiol. 31, 251–264.
- Homberg, U., 1987. Structure and functions of the central complex in insects. In: Gupta, A.P. (Ed.), Arthropod Brain: Its Evolution, Development, Structure and Functions. Wiley, New York, pp. 347–367.
- Homberg, U., 1994. Flight-correlated activity changes in neurons of the lateral accessory lobes in the brain of the locust *Schistocerca gregaria*. J. Comp. Physiol. 175, 597–610.
- Homberg, U., Hildebrand, J.G., 1994. Postembryonic development of gammaaminobutyric acid-like immunoreactivity in the brain of the sphinx moth *Manduca sexta*. J. Comp. Neurol. 339, 132–149.
- Horridge, G.A., 1962. Learning of leg position by the ventral nerve cord in headless insects. Proc. R. Soc. Lond. Ser. B 157, 33–52.
- Hu, C., Petersen, M., Hoyer, N., Spitzweck, B., Tenedini, F., Wang, D., Gruschka, A., Burchardt, L.S., Szpotowicz, E., Schweizer, M., Guntur, A.R., Yang, C.-H., Soba, P., 2017. Modality-specific sensory integration and neuropeptide-mediated feedback facilitate mechano-nociceptive behavior in *Drosophila*. Nat. Neurosci. 20, 1085–1095.
- Hu, W., Peng, Y., Sun, J., Zhang, F., Zhang, X., Wang, L., Li, Q., Zhong, Y., 2018. Fan-shaped body neurons in the *Drosophila* brain regulate both innate and conditioned nociceptive avoidance. Cell Rep. 24, 1573–1584.

- Hwang, R.Y., Zhong, L., Xu, Y., Johnson, T., Zhang, F., Deisseroth, K., Tracey, W.D., 2007. Nociceptive neurons protect *Drosophila* larvae from parasitoid wasps. Curr. Biol. 17, 2105–2116.
- International Platform for Insects as Food and Feed, 2019. Ensuring High Standards of Animal Welfare in Insect Production. International Platform for Insects as Food and Feed. Accessed: 18 August 2022. Retrieved from: https://ipiff.org/wp-content/ uploads/2019/02/Animal-Welfare-in-Insect-Production.pdf.
- Irvine, E., 2020. Developing valid behavioral indicators of animal pain. Philos. Top. 48, 129–153.
- Irvine, E., 2022. Independence, weight and priority of evidence for sentience. Animal Sent. 32, 423.
- Ito, K., Suzuki, K., Estes, P., Ramaswami, M., Yamamoto, D., Strausfeld, N.J., 1998. The organization of extrinsic neurons and their implications in the functional roles of the mushroom bodies in *Drosophila melanogaster*. Meigen. Learn. Mem. Cold Spring Harb. N 5, 52–77.
- Izquierdo, I., Dias, R.D., Souza, D.O., Carrasco, M.A., Elisabetsky, E., Perry, M.L., 1980. The role of opioid peptides in memory and learning. Behav. Brain Res. 1, 451–468.
- Jasmin, L., Rabkin, S.D., Granato, A., Boudah, A., Ohara, P.T., 2003. Analgesia and hyperalgesia from GABA-mediated modulation of the cerebral cortex. Nature 424, 316–320.
- Jékely, G., 2013. Global view of the evolution and diversity of metazoan neuropeptide signaling. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 110, 8702–8707.
- Jiao, J., Nitzke, A.M., Doukas, D.G., Seiglie, M.P., Dulawa, S.C., 2011. Antidepressant response to chronic citalopram treatment in eight inbred mouse strains. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 213, 509–520.
- Jindrich, D., Joseph, M., Otoshi, C., Wei, R., Zhong, H., Roy, R., Tillakaratne, N., Edgerton, V., 2009. Spinal learning in the adult mouse using the Horridge paradigm. J. Neurosci. Methods 182, 250–254.
- Jordt, S.E., Bautista, D.M., Chuang, H.H., McKemy, D.D., Zygmunt, P.M., Högestätt, E.D., Meng, I.D., Julius, D., 2004. Mustard oils and cannabinoids excite sensory nerve fibres through the TRP channel ANKTM1. Nature 427, 260–265.
- Julius, D., 2013. TRP channels and pain. Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol. 29, 355-384.
- Junca, P., Sandoz, J.-C., 2015. Heat perception and aversive learning in honey bees: putative involvement of the thermal/chemical sensor AmHsTRPA. Front. Physiol. 6, 316.
- Kaiser, M., Arvidson, R., Zarivach, R., Adams, M.E., Libersat, F., 2019. Molecular cross-talk in a unique parasitoid manipulation strategy. Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol. 106, 64–78.
- Kang, K., Pulver, S.R., Panzano, V.C., Chang, E.C., Griffith, L.C., Theobald, D.L., Garrity, P.A., 2010. Analysis of *Drosophila* TRPA1 reveals an ancient origin for human chemical nociception. Nature 464, 597–600.
- Kaun, K.R., Azanchi, R., Maung, Z., Hirsh, J., Heberlein, U., 2011. A Drosophila model for alcohol reward. Nat. Neurosci. 14, 612–619.
- Kecskés, A., Pohóczky, K., Kecskés, M., Varga, Z.V., Kormos, V., Szőke, É., Henn-Mike, N., Fehér, M., Kun, J., Gyenesei, A., Renner, É., Palkovits, M., Ferdinandy, P., Ábrahám, I.M., Gaszner, B., Helyes, Z., 2020. Characterization of neurons expressing the novel analgesic drug target somatostatin receptor 4 in mouse and human brains. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 21, 7788.
- Key, B., Arlinghaus, R., Browman, H.I., 2016. Insects cannot tell us anything about subjective experience or the origin of consciousness. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 113, E3813.
- Key, B., Zalucki, O., Brown, D.J., 2021. Neural design principles for subjective experience: implications for insects. Front. Behav. Neurosci. 15, 87.

- Khuong, T.M., Wang, Q.-P., Manion, J., Oyston, L.J., Lau, M.-T., Towler, H., Lin, Y.Q., Neely, G.G., 2019. Nerve injury drives a heightened state of vigilance and neuropathic sensitization in *Drosophila*. Sci. Adv. 5, eaaw4099.
- Khurana, S., Robinson, B.G., Wang, Z., Shropshire, W.C., Zhong, A.C., Garcia, L.E., Corpuz, J., Chow, J., Hatch, M.M., Precise, E.F., Cady, A., Godinez, R.M., Pulpanyawong, T., Nguyen, A.T., Li, W.-K., Seiter, M., Jahanian, K., Sun, J.C., Shah, R., Rajani, S., Chen, W.Y., Ray, S., Ryazanova, N.V., Wakou, D., Prabhu, R.K., Atkinson, N.S., 2012. Olfactory conditioning in the third instar larvae of *Drosophila melanogaster* using heat shock reinforcement. Behav. Genet. 42, 151–161.
- Kim, H.G., Margolies, D., Park, Y., 2015. The roles of thermal transient receptor potential channels in thermotactic behavior and in thermal acclimation in the red flour beetle, *Tribolium castaneum*. J. Insect Physiol. 76, 47–55.
- Kim, S.E., Coste, B., Chadha, A., Cook, B., Patapoutian, A., 2012. The role of *Drosophila* piezo in mechanical nociception. Nature 483, 209–212.
- Kinoshita, M., Stewart, F.J., Omura, H., 2017. Multisensory integration in Lepidoptera: insights into flower-visitor interactions. Bioessays 39, 1600086.
- Klein, C., Barron, A., 2016. Insects have the capacity for subjective experience. Anim. Sentience. 9, 1.
- Knight, D.C., Nguyen, H.T., Bandettini, P.A., 2006. The role of awareness in delay and trace fear conditioning in humans. Cogn. Affect. Behav. Neurosci. 6, 157–162.
- Knuttinen, M.-G., Power, J.M., Preston, A.R., Disterhoft, J.F., 2001. Awareness in classical differential eyeblink conditioning in young and aging humans. Behav. Neurosci. 115, 747–757.
- Kohno, K., Sokabe, T., Tominaga, M., Kadowaki, T., 2010. Honey bee thermal/chemical sensor, AmHsTRPA, reveals neofunctionalization and loss of transient receptor potential channel genes. J. Neurosci. 30, 12219–12229.
- Kolodny, O., Moyal, R., Edelman, S., 2021. A possible evolutionary function of phenomenal conscious experience of pain. Neurosci. Conscious. 2. niab012.
- Kortsmit, Y., van der Bruggen, M., Wertheim, B., Dicke, M., Beukeboom, L.W., van Loon, J.J.A., 2022. Behaviour of two fly species reared for livestock feed: optimising production and insect welfare. J. Insects Food Feed. in press.
- Kreienkamp, H.-J., Larusson, H.J., Witte, I., Roeder, T., Birgul, N., Honck, H.-H., Harder, S., Ellinghausen, G., Buck, F., Richter, D., 2002. Functional annotation of two orphan G-protein-coupled receptors, Drostar1 and –2, from *Drosophila melanogaster* and their ligands by reverse pharmacology. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 39937–39943.
- Lambert, H., Elwin, A., D'Cruze, N., 2021. Wouldn't hurt a fly? A review of insect cognition and sentience in relation to their use as food and feed. Appl. Anim. Behav. Sci. 243, 105432.
- Lawson, D.A., Chittka, L., Whitney, H.M., Rands, S.A., 2018. Bumblebees distinguish floral scent patterns, and can transfer these to corresponding visual patterns. Proc. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 285, 20180661.
- Lee, T., Lee, A., Luo, L., 1999. Development of the *Drosophila* mushroom bodies: sequential generation of three distinct types of neurons from a neuroblast. Dev. Camb. Engl. 126, 4065–4076.
- Li, F., Lindsey, J.W., Marin, E.C., Otto, N., Dreher, M., Dempsey, G., Stark, I., Bates, A.S., Pleijzier, M.W., Schlegel, P., Nern, A., Takemura, S., Eckstein, N., Yang, T., Francis, A., Braun, A., Parekh, R., Costa, M., Scheffer, L.K., Aso, Y., Jefferis, G.S., Abbott, L.F., Litwin-Kumar, A., Waddell, S., Rubin, G.M., 2020a. The connectome of the adult *Drosophila* mushroom body provides insights into function. eLife 9, e62576.
- Li, J., Mahoney, B.D., Jacob, M.S., Caron, S.J.C., 2020b. Visual input into the *Drosophila* melanogaster mushroom body. Cell Rep. 32, 108138.

- Li, Y., Strausfeld, N.J., 1997. Morphology and sensory modality of mushroom body extrinsic neurons in the brain of the cockroach, *Periplaneta americana*. J. Comp. Neurol. 387, 631–650.
- Li, Y., Strausfeld, N.J., 1999. Multimodal efferent and recurrent neurons in the medial lobes of cockroach mushroom bodies. J. Comp. Neurol. 409, 647–663.
- Liu, Z., Udenigwe, C.C., 2019. Role of food-derived opioid peptides in the central nervous and gastrointestinal systems. J. Food Biochem. 43, e12629.
- Lizé, A., Clément, J., Cortesero, A.M., Poinsot, D., 2010. Kin recognition loss following anesthesia in beetle larvae (*Aleochara bilineata*, Coleoptera, Staphylinidae). Anim. Cogn. 13, 189–194.
- Longo, N., 1964. Probability learning and habit-reversal in the cockroach. Am. J. Psychol. 77, 29–41.
- Lopez-Bellido, R., Himmel, N.J., Gutstein, H.B., Cox, D.N., Galko, M.J., 2019. An assay for chemical nociception in *Drosophila* larvae. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 374, 20190282.
- Lum, P.T.M., Flaherty, B.R., 1972. Effect of carbon dioxide on production and hatchability of eggs of *Plodia interpunctella* (Lepidoptera: Phycitidae). Ann. Entomol. Soc. Am. 65, 976–977.
- Ma, Z., Zheng, J.C., Li, T., Xie, Z., Kang, L., 2022. Janus kinase mediates faster recovery from sevoflurane anesthesia than isoflurane anesthesia in the migratory locusts. Front. Physiol. 30, 806746.
- MacMillan, H.A., Norgard, M., MacLean, H.J., Overgaard, J., Williams, C.J.A., 2017. A critical test of *Drosophila* anaesthetics: isoflurane and sevoflurane are benign alternatives to cold and CO2. J. Ins. Phys. 101, 97–106.
- Magee, B., Elwood, R.W., 2013. Shock avoidance by discrimination learning in the shore crab (*Carcinus maenas*) is consistent with a key criterion for pain. J. Exp. Biol. 216, 353–358.
- Malaterre, J., Strambi, C., Chiang, A.-S., Aouane, A., Strambi, A., Cayre, M., 2002. Development of cricket mushroom bodies. J. Comp. Neurol. 452, 215–227.
- Maliszewska, J., Jankowska, M., Kletkiewicz, H., Stankiewicz, M., Rogalska, J., 2018a. Effect of capsaicin and other thermo-TRP agonists on thermoregulatory processes in the American cockroach. Molecules 3, 3360.
- Maliszewska, J., Marcinkowska, S., Nowakowska, A., Kletkiewicz, H., Rogalska, J., 2018b. Altered heat nociception in cockroach *Periplaneta americana* L. exposed to capsaicin. PLos One. 13, e0194109.
- Maliszewska, J., Tęgowska, E., 2012. Capsaicin as an organophosphate synergist against Colorado potato beetle (*Leptinotarsa decemlineata*). J. Plant Prot. Res. 52, 28–34.
- Mallatt, J., Feinberg, T., 2022. Decapod sentience: promising framework and evidence. Anim. Sentience. 32, 24.
- Mallatt, J., Feinberg, T.E., 2021. Multiple routes to animal consciousness: constrained multiple realizability rather than modest identity theory. Front. Psychol. 12, 732336.
- Mancini, N., Hranova, S., Weber, J., Weiglein, A., Schleyer, M., Weber, D., Thum, A.S., Gerber, B., 2019. Reversal learning in Drosophila larvae. Learn. Mem. 26, 424–435.
- Manev, H., Dimitrijevic, N., 2004. Drosophila model for in vivo pharmacological analgesia research. Eur. J. Pharmacol. 491, 207–208.
- Mao, F., Lu, W.-J., Yang, Y., Qiao, X., Ye, G.-Y., Huang, J., 2020. Identification, characterization and expression analysis of TRP channel genes in the vegetable pest, *Pieris rapae*. Insects. 11, E192.
- Martin, J.P., Beyerlein, A., Dacks, A.M., Reisenman, C.E., Riffell, J.A., Lei, H., Hildebrand, J.G., 2011. The neurobiology of insect olfaction: sensory processing in a comparative context. Prog. Neurobiol. 95, 427–447.

- Mashour, G.A., Roelfsema, P., Changeux, J.-P., Dehaene, S., 2020. Conscious processing and the global neuronal workspace hypothesis. Neuron 105, 776–798.
- Matheson, A.M.M., Lanz, A.J., Licata, A.M., Currier, T.A., Syed, M.H., Nagel, K.I., 2021. Organization of central circuits for wind-guided olfactory navigation. Nat. Commun. 13, 4613.
- Matsuura, H., Sokabe, T., Kohno, K., Tominaga, M., Kadowaki, T., 2009. Evolutionary conservation and changes in insect TRP channels. BMC Evol. Biol. 9, 228.
- McCallion, K., Petersen, K., Dombrowski, D.S., Christian, L.S., Lewbart, G.A., Dillard, J., 2021. Isoflurane anesthesia in the Madagascar hissing cockroach (*Gromphadorhina portentosa*). J. Zoo Wildl. Med. 52, 710–714.
- McCurdy, L.Y., Sareen, P., Davoudian, P.A., Nitabach, M.N., 2021. Dopaminergic mechanism underlying reward-encoding of punishment omission during reversal learning in *Drosophila*. Nat. Commun. 12, 1115.
- Mehdi, B.J., Tabassum, S., Haider, S., Perveen, T., Nawaz, A., Haleem, D.J., 2015. Nootropic and anti-stress effects of rice bran oil in male rats. J. Food Sci. Technol. 52, 4544–4550.
- Milde, J.J., 1988. Visual responses of interneurones in the posterior median protocerebrum and the central complex of the honeybee *Apis mellifera*. J. Insect Physiol. 34, 427–436.
- Millsopp, S., Laming, P., 2008. Trade-offs between feeding and shock avoidance in goldfish (*Carassius auratus*). Appl. Anim. Behav. Sci. 113, 247–254.
- Mirabeau, O., Joly, J.-S., 2013. Molecular evolution of peptidergic signaling systems in bilaterians. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 110, E2028–E2037.
- Mito, T., Nakamura, T., Noji, S., 2010. Evolution of insect development: to the hemimetabolous paradigm. Curr. Opin. Genet. Dev. 20, 355–361.
- Mongeau, J.-M., Schweikert, L.E., Davis, A.L., Reichert, M.S., Kanwal, J.K., 2021. Multimodal integration across spatiotemporal scales to guide invertebrate locomotion. Integr. Comp. Biol. 61, 842–853.
- Mota, T., Giurfa, M., 2010. Multiple reversal olfactory learning in honeybees. Front. Behav. Neurosci. 4, 48.
- Mudrik, L., Faivre, N., Koch, C., 2014. Information integration without awareness. Trends Cogn. Sci. 18, 488–496.
- Mukherjee, R., Trimmer, B.A., 2020. Local and generalized sensitization of thermally evoked defensive behavior in caterpillars. J. Comp. Neurol. 528, 805–815.
- Murmu, M.S., Hanoune, J., Choi, A., Bureau, V., Renou, M., Dacher, M., Deisig, N., 2020. Modulatory effects of pheromone on olfactory learning and memory in moths. J. Insect Physiol. 127, 104159.
- Nässel, D.R., 2021. Leucokinin and associated neuropeptides regulate multiple aspects of physiology and behavior in *Drosophila*. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 22, 1940.
- Navratilova, E., Porreca, F., 2014. Reward and motivation in pain and pain relief. Nat. Neurosci. 17, 1304–1312.
- Neckameyer, W.S. and Nieto-Romero A.R., Response to stress in *Drosophila* is mediated by gender, age and stress paradigm. Stress 18, 254–266.
- Neely, G.G., Hess, A., Costigan, M., Keene, A.C., Goulas, S., Langeslag, M., Griffin, R.S., Belfer, I., Dai, F., Smith, S.B., Diatchenko, L., Gupta, V., Xia, C., Amann, S., Kreitz, S., Heindl-Erdmann, C., Wolz, S., Ly, C.V., Arora, S., Sarangi, R., Dan, D., Novatchkova, M., Rosenzweig, M., Gibson, D.G., Truong, D., Schramek, D., Zoranovic, T., Cronin, S.J.F., Angjeli, B., Brune, K., Dietzl, G., Maixner, W., Meixner, A., Thomas, W., Pospisilik, J.A., Alenius, M., Kress, M., Subramaniam, S., Garrity, P.A., Bellen, H.J., Woolf, C.J., Penninger, J.M., 2010. A genome-wide *Drosophila* screen for heat nociception identifies α2δ3 as an evolutionarily conserved pain gene. Cell 143, 628–638.

- Ng, Y.-K., 1995. Towards welfare biology: evolutionary economics of animal consciousness and suffering. Biol. Philos. 10, 255–285.
- Nishino, H., Iwasaki, M., Yasuyama, K., Hongo, H., Watanabe, H., Mizunami, M., 2012. Visual and olfactory input segregation in the mushroom body calyces in a basal neopteran, the American cockroach. Arthropod Struct. Dev. 41, 3–16.
- Nishino, H., Yamashita, S., Yamazaki, Y., Nishikawa, M., Yokohari, F., Mizunami, M., 2003. Projection neurons originating from thermo- and hygrosensory glomeruli in the antennal lobe of the cockroach. J. Comp. Neurol. 455, 40–55.
- Nordlander, R.H., Edwards, J.S., 1970. Postembryonic brain development in the monarch butterfly, *Danaus plexippus plexippus*. L. Wilhelm Roux. Arch. Für Entwicklungsmechanik Org. 164, 247–260.
- Nouvian, M., Galizia, C.G., 2019. Aversive training of honey bees in an automated Y-maze. Front. Physiol. 10, 678.
- Núñez, J., Maldonado, H., Miralto, A., Balderrama, N., 1983. The stinging response of the honeybee: effects of morphine, naloxone and some opioid peptides. Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav. 19, 921–924.
- Núñez, J., Almeida, L., Balderrama, N., Giurfa, M., 1997. Alarm pheromone induces stress analgesia via an opioid system in the honeybee. Physiol. Behav. 63, 75–80.
- Ohashi, H., Sakai, T., 2018. Leucokinin signaling regulates hunger-driven reduction of behavioral responses to noxious heat in *Drosophila*. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 499, 221–226.
- Ohyama, T., Schneider-Mizell, C.M., Fetter, R.D., Aleman, J.V., Franconville, R., Rivera-Alba, M., Mensh, B.D., Branson, K.M., Simpson, J.H., Truman, J.W., Cardona, A., Zlatic, M., 2015. A multilevel multimodal circuit enhances action selection in *Drosophila*. Nature 520, 633–639.
- Oikawa, I., Kondo, S., Hashimoto, K., Kashiwabara, A., Tanimoto, H., Furukubo-Tokunaga, K., Honjo, K., 2022. A descending inhibitory mechanism of nociception mediated by an evolutionarily conserved neuropeptide system in *Drosophila*. bioRxiv. https://doi.org/10.1101/2022.03.08.483420.
- Okada, R., Ikeda, J., Mizunami, M., 1999. Sensory responses and movement-related activities in extrinsic neurons of the cockroach mushroom bodies. J. Comp. Physiol. A 185, 115–129.
- Okray, Z., Jacob, P.F., Stern, C., Desmond, K., Otto, N., Vargas-Gutierrez, P., Waddell, S., 2022. Multisensory learning binds modality-specific neurons into a cross-modal memory engram. bioRxiv. https://doi.org/10.1101/2022.07.08.499174.
- Olszewska, J., Tęgowska, E., 2011. Opposite effect of capsaicin and capsazepine on behavioral thermoregulation in insects. J. Comp. Physiol. A 197, 1021–1026.
- Oonincx, D.G.A.B., van Itterbeeck, J., Heetkamp, M.J.W., van den Brand, H., van Loon, J.J.A., van Huis, A., 2010. An exploration on greenhouse gas and ammonia production by insect species suitable for animal or human consumption. Plos One 5, e14445.
- Owald, D., Felsenberg, J., Talbot, C.B., Das, G., Perisse, E., Huetteroth, W., Waddell, S., 2015. Activity of defined mushroom body output neurons underlies learned olfactory behavior in *Drosophila*. Neuron 86, 417–427.
- Oya, S., Kohno, H., Kainoh, Y., Ono, M., Kubo, T., 2017. Increased complexity of mushroom body Kenyon cell subtypes in the brain is associated with behavioral evolution in hymenopteran insects. Sci. Rep. 7, 1.
- Pauls, D., Pfitzenmaier, J.E.R., Krebs-Wheaton, R., Selcho, M., Stocker, R.F., Thum, A.S., 2010. Electric shock-induced associative olfactory learning in *Drosophila* larvae. Chem. Senses 35, 335–346.
- Peng, G., Shi, X., Kadowaki, T., 2015. Evolution of TRP channels inferred by their classification in diverse animal species. Mol. Phylogenet. Evol. 84, 145–157.

- Perrino Jr., A.C., Ralevski, E., Acampora, G., Edgecombe, J., Limoncelli, D., Petrakis, I.L., 2008. Ethanol and pain sensitivity: effects in healthy subjects using an acute pain paradigm. Alcohol. Clin. Exp. Res. 32, 952–958.
- Pfeiffer, K., Homberg, U., 2014. Organization and functional roles of the central complex in the insect brain. Annu. Rev. Entomol. 59, 165–184.
- Phillips-Portillo, J., 2012. The central complex of the flesh fly, *Neobellieria bullata*: recordings and morphologies of protocerebral inputs and small-field neurons. J. Comp. Neurol. 520, 3088–3104.
- Pingle, S.C., Matta, J.A., Ahern, G.P., 2007. Capsaicin receptor: TRPV1 a promiscuous TRP channel. Handb. Exp. Pharmacol. 179, 155–171.
- Plath, J.A., Barron, A.B., 2015. Current progress in understanding the functions of the insect central complex. Curr. Opin. Insect Sci. 12, 11–18.
- Plath, J.A., Entler, B.V., Kirkerud, N.H., Schlegel, U., Galizia, C.G., Barron, A.B., 2017. Different roles for honey bee mushroom bodies and central complex in visual learning of colored lights in an aversive conditioning assay. Fron. Behav. Neurosci, 11, 98.
- Porsolt, R.D., Le Pichon, M., Jalfre, M., 1977. Depression: a new animal model sensitive to antidepressant treatments. Nature 266, 730–732.
- Punzo, F., 1980. Neurochemical changes associated with learning in *Schistocerca americana* (Orthoptera: Acrididae). J. Kans. Entomol. Soc. 53, 787–796.
- Putz, G., Heisenberg, M., 2002. Memories in *Drosophila* heat-box learning. Learn. Mem. 9, 349–359.
- Quinn, W.G., Harris, W.A., Benzer, S., 1974. Conditioned behavior in *Drosophila melano-gaster*. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 71, 708–712.
- Raine, N.E., Chittka, L., 2012. No trade-off between learning speed and associative flexibility in bumblebees: a reversal learning test with multiple colonies. PLoS ONE 7, e45096.
- Ramos-Hryb, A.B., Ramirez, M.F., Lino-de-Oliveira, C., Pagani, M.R., 2021. Stress-mediated hyperactivity and anhedonia resistant to diazepam and fluoxetine in drosophila. Stress 24, 96–106.
- Rana, A., Emanuel, S., Adams, M.E., Libersat, F., 2022. Suppression of host nocifensive behavior by parasitoid wasp venom. Front. Physiol. 13, 1511.
- Ren, Q., Li, H., Wu, Y., Ren, J., Guo, A., 2012. A GABAergic inhibitory neural circuit regulates visual reversal learning in *Drosophila*. J. Neurosci. 32, 11524–11538.
- Ribbands, C.R., 1950. Changes in the behaviour of honey-bees following their recovery from anaesthesia. J. Exp. Biol. 27, 302–310.
- Riemensperger, T., Völler, T., Stock, P., Buchner, E., Fiala, A., 2005. Punishment prediction by dopaminergic neurons in *Drosophila*. Curr. Biol. 15, 1953–1960.
- Rigo, F., Filošević, A., Petrović, M., Jović, K., Andretić Waldowski, R., 2021. Locomotor sensitization modulates voluntary self-administration of methamphetamine in *Drosophila melanogaster*. Addict. Biol. 26, e12963.
- Ringo, J.M., 2020. How do flies keep clean? Head grooming in *Drosophila*. J. Ethol. 38, 167–172.
- Ritzmann, R.E., Ridgel, A.L., Pollack, A.J., 2008. Multi-unit recording of antennal mechano-sensitive units in the central complex of the cockroach, *Blaberus discoidalis*. J. Comp. Physiol. A Neuroethol. Sens. Neural. Behav. Physiol. 194, 341–360.
- Rolff, J., Johnston, P.R., Reynolds, S., 2019. Complete metamorphosis of insects. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 374, 20190063.
- Rosner, R., Homberg, U., 2013. Widespread sensitivity to looming stimuli and small moving objects in the central complex of an insect brain. J. Neurosci. 33, 8122–8133.
- Roussel, E., Padie, S., Giurfa, M., 2012. Aversive learning overcomes appetitive innate responding in honeybees. Anim. Cogn. 15, 135–141.

- Rowe, A., 2020a. Insects raised for food and feed global scale, practices, and policy. In: Rethink Priorities. Accessed: 18 August 2022. Retrieved from: https://rethinkpriorities. org/publications/insects-raised-for-food-and-feed.
- Rowe, A., 2020b. The Scale of Direct Human Impact on Invertebrates. OSF [Preprint] https://doi.org/10.31219/osf.io/psvk2.
- Rowe, A., 2021, April 19. Silk production: global scale and animal welfare issues. In: Rethink Priorities. Accessed: 18 August 2022. Retrieved from: https://rethinkpriorities.org/ publications/silk-production.
- Russo, R.M., Liendo, M.C., Landi, L., Pietronave, H., Merke, J., Fain, H., Muntaabski, I., Palacio, M.A., Rodríguez, G.A., Lanzavecchia, S.B., Scannapieco, A.C., 2020. Grooming behavior in naturally varroa-resistant *Apis mellifera* colonies from north-Central Argentina. Front. Ecol. Evol. 8, 590281.
- Rybak, J., Menzel, R., 1998. Integrative properties of the Pe1 neuron, a unique mushroom body output neuron. Learn. Mem. 5, 133–145.
- Sandall, E., Fischer, B., 2019. Be a professional: attend to the insects. Am. Entomol. 3, 176–179.
- Sandstrom, D.J., 2004. Isoflurane depresses glutamate release by reducing neuronal excitability at the *Drosophila* neuromuscular junction. J. Physiol. 558, 489–502.
- Sant'Ana, J., Tognon, R., Pires, P.D.S., Gregório, P.L.F., 2021. Associative learning and memory through metamorphosis in *Grapholita molesta* (Busck) (Lepidoptera: Tortricidae). Can. Entomol. 153, 666–671.
- Santoro, C., Hall, L.M., Zukin, R.S., 1990. Characterization of two classes of opioid binding sites in *Drosophila melanogaster* head membranes. J. Neurochem. 54, 164–170.
- Saumweber, T., Rohwedder, A., Schleyer, M., Eichler, K., Chen, Y., Aso, Y., Cardona, A., Eschbach, C., Kobler, O., Voigt, A., Durairaja, A., Mancini, N., Zlatic, M., Truman, J.W., Thum, A.S., Gerber, B., 2018. Functional architecture of reward learning in mushroom body extrinsic neurons of larval *Drosophila*. Nat. Commun. 9, 1104.
- Schildberger, K., 1984. Multimodal interneurons in the cricket brain: properties of identified extrinsic mushroom body cells. J. Comp. Physiol. 154, 74–79.
- Shea, N., Bayne, T., 2010. The vegetative state and the science of consciousness. Br. J. Philos. Sci. 61, 459–484.
- Schürmann, F.W., 1987. The architecture of the mushroom bodies and related neuropils in the insect brain. In: Gupta, A.G. (Ed.), Arthropod Brain: Its Evolution, Development, Structure, and Functions. John Wiley & Sons, New York, pp. 231–275.
- Shettleworth, S.J., 1998. Cognition, Evolution, and Behavior. Oxford University Press.
- Shimono, K., Fujimoto, A., Tsuyama, T., Yamamoto-Kochi, M., Sato, M., Hattori, Y., Sugimura, K., Usui, T., Kimura, K., Uemura, T., 2009. Multidendritic sensory neurons in the adult *Drosophila* abdomen: origins, dendritic morphology, and segment- and age-dependent programmed cell death. Neural Develop. 4, 37.
- Shinkai, Y., Yamamoto, Y., Fujiwara, M., Tabata, T., Murayama, T., Hirotsu, T., Ikeda, D.D., Tsunozaki, M., Iino, Y., Bargmann, C.I., Katsura, I., Ishihara, T., 2011. Behavioral choice between conflicting alternatives is regulated by a receptor guanylyl cyclase, GCY-28, and a receptor tyrosine kinase, SCD-2, in AIA interneurons of *Caenorhabditis elegans*. J. Neurosci. 31, 3007–3015.
- Shuai, Y., Hu, Y., Qin, H., Campbell, R.A.A., Zhong, Y., 2011. Distinct molecular underpinnings of *Drosophila* olfactory trace conditioning. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 108, 20201–20206.
- Simčikas, S., 2020. 18. Estimates of Captive Vertebrate Numbers. Effective Altruism Forum. Accessed: 18 Aug 2022. Retrieved from: https://forum.effectivealtruism.org/posts/ pT7AYJdaRp6ZdYfny/estimates-of-global-captive-vertebrate-numbers.
- Skora, L.I., Yeomans, M.R., Crombag, H.S., Scott, R.B., 2021. Evidence that instrumental conditioning requires conscious awareness in humans. Cognition 208, 104546.

- Sleigh, C., 2007. Six Legs Better: A Cultural History of Myrmecology. John Hopkins University Press, UK.
- Smith, J.A., 1991. A question of pain in invertebrates. ILAR J. 33, 25-31.
- Smith, J.A., Boyd, K.M., 1991. Lives in the Balance: The Ethics of Using Animals in Biomedical Research: The Report of a Working Party of the Institute of Medical Ethics. Oxford University Press.
- Sneddon, L.U., Elwood, R.W., Adamo, S.A., Leach, M.C., 2014. Defining and assessing animal pain. Anim. Behav. 97, 201–212.
- Sokabe, T., Tsujiuchi, S., Kadowaki, T., Tominaga, M., 2008. *Drosophila* painless is a Ca²⁺-requiring channel activated by noxious heat. J. Neurosci. 28, 9929–9938.
- Solvi, C., Al-Khudhairy, S.G., Chittka, L., 2020. Bumble bees display cross-modal object recognition between visual and tactile senses. Science 367, 910–912.
- Solvi, C., Baciadonna, L., Chittka, L., 2016. Unexpected rewards induce dopamine-dependent positive emotion–like state changes in bumblebees. Science 353, 1529–1531.
- Søvik, E., Perry, C.J., Barron, A.B., 2015. Chapter six insect reward systems: comparing flies and bees. In: Zayed, A., Kent, C.F. (Eds.), Adv. Insect Physiol. 48, pp. 189–226.
- Srivastava, M., Simakov, O., Chapman, J., Fahey, B., Gauthier, M.E.A., Mitros, T., Richards, G.S., Conaco, C., Dacre, M., Hellsten, U., Larroux, C., Putnam, N.H., Stanke, M., Adamska, M., Darling, A., Degnan, S.M., Oakley, T.H., Plachetzki, D.C., Zhai, Y., Adamski, M., Calcino, A., Cummins, S.F., Goodstein, D.M., Harris, C., Jackson, D.J., Leys, S.P., Shu, S., Woodcroft, B.J., Vervoort, M., Kosik, K.S., Manning, G., Degnan, B.M., Rokhsar, D.S., 2010. The *Amphimedon queenslandica* genome and the evolution of animal complexity. Nature 466, 720–726.
- Stork, N.E., 2018. How many species of insects and other terrestrial arthropods are there on earth? Annu. Rev. Entomol. 63, 31–45.
- Strausfeld, N.J., 1998. The insect mushroom body: a uniquely identifiable neuropil. In: Leonard, J.L. (Ed.), Identified Neurons in Model Systems. Harvard University Press, Cambridge, MA.
- Strausfeld, N.J., 2002. Organization of the honey bee mushroom body: representation of the calyx within the vertical and gamma lobes. J. Comp. Neurol. 450, 4–33.
- Strausfeld, N.J., Hansen, L., Li, Y., Gomez, R.S., Ito, K., 1998. Evolution, discovery, and interpretations of arthropod mushroom bodies. Learn. Mem. 5, 11–37.
- Strausfeld, N.J., Li, Y., 1999a. Organization of olfactory and multimodal afferent neurons supplying the calyx and pedunculus of the cockroach mushroom bodies. J. Comp. Neurol. 409, 603–625.
- Strausfeld, N.J., Li, Y., 1999b. Representation of the calyces in the medial and vertical lobes of cockroach mushroom bodies. J. Comp. Neurol. 409, 626–646.
- Strausfeld, N.J., Sinakevitch, I., Brown, S.M., Farris, S.M., 2009. Ground plan of the insect mushroom body: functional and evolutionary implications. J. Comp. Neurol. 513, 265–291.
- Strube-Bloss, M.F., Rössler, W., 2018. Multimodal integration and stimulus categorization in putative mushroom body output neurons of the honeybee. R. Soc. Open Sci. 5, 171785.
- Sulkowski, M.J., Kurosawa, M.S., OX, D.N., 2011. Growing pains: development of the larval nocifensive response in *Drosophila*. Biol. Bull. 221, 300–306.
- Sun, X., Yue, S., Mangan, M., 2021. How the insect central complex could coordinate multimodal navigation. eLife 10, e73077.
- Tabuena, D.R., Solis, A., Geraldi, K., Moffatt, C.A., Fuse, M., 2017. Central neural alterations predominate in an insect model of nociceptive sensitization. J. Comp. Neurol. 525, 1176–1191.
- Takami, Y., 2003. Experimental analysis of the effect of genital morphology on insemination success in the ground beetle *Carabus insulicola* (Coleoptera Carabidae). Ethol. Ecol. Evol. 15, 51–61.
- Taylor, G.K., Krapp, H.G., 2007. Sensory systems and flight stability: what do insects measure and why? In: Casas, J., Simpson, S.J. (Eds.), Advances in Insect Physiology. Academic Press, Insect Mechanics and Control, pp. 231–316.
- Tegowska, E., Grajpel, B., Piechowicz, B., 2004. Does Red Pepper Contain An Insecticidal Compound for Colorado Beetle? vol. 28, pp. 121–127.
- Thiagarajan, D., Sachse, S., 2022. Multimodal information processing and associative learning in the insect brain. Insects. 13, 332.
- Tiraboschi, E., Leonardelli, L., Segata, G., Haase, A., 2021. Parallel processing of olfactory and mechanosensory information in the honey bee antennal lobe. Front. Physiol. 12, 790453.
- Tracey, I., 2005. Nociceptive processing in the human brain. Curr. Opin. Neurobiol. Sensory Systems 15, 478–487.
- Tracey, W.D., 2017. Nociception. Curr. Biol. 27, R129-R133.
- Tracey, W.D., Wilson, R.I., Laurent, G., Benzer, S., 2003. Painless, a Drosophila gene essential for nociception. Cell 113, 261–273.
- Travers, E., Frith, C.D., Shea, N., 2018. Learning rapidly about the relevance of visual cues requires conscious awareness. Q. J. Exp. Psychol. 71, 1698–1713.
- Tsubouchi, A., Yano, T., Yokoyama, T.K., Murtin, C., Otsuna, H., Ito, K., 2017. Topological and modality-specific representation of somatosensory information in the fly brain. Science 358, 615–623.
- Tu, X., Wang, J., Hao, K., Whitman, D.W., Fan, Y., Cao, G., Zhang, Z., 2015. Transcriptomic and proteomic analysis of pre-diapause and non-diapause eggs of migratory locust, *Locusta migratoria* L. (Orthoptera: Acridoidea). Sci. Rep. 5, 11402.
- Tully, T., Quinn, W.G., 1985. Classical conditioning and retention in normal and mutant Drosophila melanogaster. J. Comp. Physiol. A. 157, 263–277.
- Turner, C.H., 1912. The copulation of Ammophila abbreviata. Psyche 19, 137.
- Turner, H.N., Armengol, K., Patel, A.A., Himmel, N.J., Sullivan, L., Iyer, S.C., Bhattacharya, S., Lyer, E.P.R., Landry, C., Galko, M.J., Cox, D.N., 2016. The TRP channels Pkd2, NompC, and Trpm act in cold-sensing neurons to mediate unique aversive behaviors to noxious cold in *Drosophila*. Curr. Biol. 26, 3116–3128.
- van Huis, A., 2021. Welfare of farmed insects. J. Insects Food Feed 7, 573-584.
- van Huis, A., Tomberlin, J.K., 2017. Insects as Food and Feed: From Production to Consumption. Wageningen Academic Press.
- Varga, A.G., Ritzmann, R.E., 2016. Cellular basis of head direction and contextual cues in the insect brain. Curr. Biol. 26, 1816–1828.
- Vergoz, V., Roussel, E., Sandoz, J.-C., Giurfa, M., 2007. Aversive learning in honeybees revealed by the olfactory conditioning of the sting extension reflex. Plos One. 2, e288.
- Vitzthum, H., Müller, M., Homberg, U., 2002. Neurons of the central complex of the locust Schistocerca gregaria are sensitive to polarized light. J. Neurosci. 22, 1114–1125.
- Vogelstein, J.T., Park, Y., Ohyama, T., Kerr, R.A., Truman, J.W., Priebe, C.E., Zlatic, M., 2014. Discovery of brainwide neural-behavioral maps via multiscale unsupervised structure learning. Science 344, 386–392.
- Walters, E., Illich, P., Weeks, J., Lewin, M., 2001. Defensive responses of larval Manduca sexta and their sensitization by noxious stimuli in the laboratory and field. J. Exp. Biol. 204, 457–469.
- Wang, X., Li, T., Kashio, M., Xu, Y., Tominaga, M., Kadowaki, T., 2018. HsTRPA of the red imported fire ant, *Solenopsis invicta*, functions as a nocisensor and uncovers the evolutionary plasticity of HsTRPA channels. eNeuro 5.

- Wegerhoff, R., Breidbach, O., 1992. Structure and development of the larval central complex in a holometabolous insect, the beetle *Tenebrio molitor*. Cell Tissue Res. 268, 341–358.
- Wegerhoff, R., Breidbach, O., Lobemeier, M., 1996. Development of locustatachykinin immunopositive neurons in the central complex of the beetle *Tenebrio molitor*. J. Comp. Neurol. 375, 157–166.
- Wei, J.J., Fu, T., Yang, T., Liu, Y., Wang, G.R., 2015. A TRPA1 channel that senses thermal stimulus and irritating chemicals in *Helicoverpa armigera*. Insect Mol. Biol. 24, 412–421.
- Weiss, A., Penzlin, H., 1987. Effect of morphine and naloxone on shock avoidance learning in headless cockroaches (*Periplaneta americana* L.). Physiol. Behav. 39, 445–451.
- Wessnitzer, J., Webb, B., 2006. Multimodal sensory integration in insects-towards insect brain control architectures. Bioinspir. Biomim. 1, 63–75.
- Wideman, T.H., Edwards, R.R., Walton, D.M., Martel, M.O., Hudon, A., Seminowicz, D.A., 2019. The multimodal assessment model of pain: a novel framework for further integrating the subjective pain experience within research and practice. Clin. J. Pain 35, 212–221.
- Wiggin, T.D., Hsiao, Y., Liu, J.B., Huber, R., Griffith, L.C., 2021. Rest is required to learn an appetitively-reinforced operant task in *Drosophila*. Front. Behav. Neurosci. 15, 681593.
- Wigglesworth, V.B., 1980. Do insects feel pain? Antenna 4, 8–9.
- Witthöft, W., 1967. Absolute Anzahl und Verteilung der Zellen im Hirn der Honigbiene. Zeitschrift für Morphologie der Tiere. 61, 60–184.
- Wolff, T., Iyer, N.A., Rubin, G.M., 2015. Neuroarchitecture and neuroanatomy of the Drosophila central complex: a GAL4-based dissection of protocerebral bridge neurons and circuits. J. Comp. Neurol. 523, 997–1037.
- Wu, Y., Ren, Q., Li, H., Guo, A., 2012. The GABAergic anterior paired lateral neurons facilitate olfactory reversal learning in *Drosophila*. Learn. Mem. Cold Spring Harb. N 19, 478–486.
- Wustmann, G., Rein, K., Wolf, R., Heisenberg, M., 1996. A new paradigm for operant conditioning of *Drosophila melanogaster*. J. Comp. Physiol. A 179, 429–436.
- Xu, S.Y., Cang, C.L., Liu, X.F., Peng, Y.Q., Ye, Y.Z., Zhao, Z.Q., Guo, A.K., 2006. Thermal nociception in adult *Drosophila*: behavioral characterization and the role of the painless gene. Genes Brain Behav. 5, 602–613.
- Yagi, R., Mabuchi, Y., Mizunami, M., Tanaka, N.K., 2016. Convergence of multimodal sensory pathways to the mushroom body calyx in *Drosophila melanogaster*. Sci. Rep. 6, 29481.
- Yan, Z., Zhang, W., He, Y., Gorczyca, D., Xiang, Y., Cheng, L.E., Meltzer, S., Jan, L.Y., Jan, Y.N., 2013. *Drosophila* NOMPC is a mechanotransduction channel subunit for gentle-touch sensation. Nature 493, 221–225.
- Yang, Q., Li, Z., Li, H., Li, Y., Yang, Y., Zhang, Q., Liu, X., 2016. Comparison of leg regeneration potency between holometabolous *Helicoverpa annigera* (Lepidoptera: Noctuidae) and hemimetabolous *locusta migratoria manilensis* (Orthoptera: Acrididae). Environ. Entomol. 45, 1552–1560.
- Ylla, G., Nakamura, T., Itoh, T., Kajitani, R., Toyoda, A., Tomonari, S., Bando, T., Ishimaru, Y., Watanabe, T., Fuketa, M., Matsuoka, Y., Barnett, A.A., Noji, S., Mito, T., Extavour, C.G., 2021. Insights into the genomic evolution of insects from cricket genomes. Commun. Biol. 4, 1–12.
- Yoshino, J., Morikawa, R.K., Hasegawa, E., Emoto, K., 2017. Neural circuitry that evokes escape behavior upon activation of nociceptive sensory neurons in Drosophila larvae. Curr. Biol. 27, 2499–2504.

- Young, J.M., Armstrong, J.D., 2010. Building the central complex in *Drosophila*: the generation and development of distinct neural subsets. J. Comp. Neurol. 518, 1525–1541.
- Zabala, N.A., Gómez, M.A., 1991. Morphine analgesia, tolerance and addiction in the cricket *Pteronemobius sp.* (Orthoptera, Insecta). Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav. 40, 887–891.
- Zabala, N.A., Jaffe, K., Maldonado, H., 1984. Arginine has a morphine-like action in insects. Experientia 40, 733–734.
- Zemanova, M.A., 2020. Towards more compassionate wildlife research through the 3Rs principles: moving from invasive to non-invasive methods. Wildl. Biol, 1–17.
- Zemanova, M.A., 2022. 3Rs principles in wildlife research. 3Rs. Accessed: 18 August 2022. Retrieved from: https://3rswildlife.info/.
- Zhang, Z.-Q., 2011. Animal biodiversity: an outline of higher-level classification and survey of taxonomic richness. Zootaxa. 3148, 3–6.
- Zhong, L., Hwang, R.Y., Tracey, W.D., 2010. Pickpocket is a DEG/ENaC protein required for mechanical nociception in *Drosophila* larvae. Curr. Biol. 20, 429-434.